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GULF INTERNATIONAL BANK

GULF INTERNATIONAL BANK (GIB) IS A LEADING MERCHANT BANK 1n the Middle East wath its
principal focus on the Gulf Cooperation Council (GCC) states With a proven track record spanning more than
28 years, GIB provides client-led, innovative financial products and services Its client base includes major private-
secior corporations, Gulf-based financial nstitutions, multinational companies active 1n the region and the

governments of the GCC states

GIR has gained an internauonal reputation for project and trade finance and 15 a leading player in the
regional syndicated lean market The bank’s financial strength 15 based on conservative asset and liabihty
management policics, 1ts high-quality asset profile and strong capital base More recently, the bank increased its

focus on merchant banking services, including corporate finance and asset management

GIB was established in the kingdom of Bahrain in 1975 The six GCC governments, Bahramn, Kuwait,
Oman, Qatar, $audi Arabta and the United Arab Emurates, own 72 5 per cent of the bank, while the Saudi Arabian
Monetary Agency (SAMA) and JP Morgan QOverseas Capital Corporation own 22 2 per cent and 5 3 per cent
respectively In addition to its main subsidiary Gulf International Bank (UK) Limited, the Bank has branches n

London, New York, Riyadh and Jeddah, in addition to representative offices 1n Beirut and Abu Dhatn
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FINANCIAL HIGULIGHTS

2004 2003 2002 2001 2000
Earnings [US$ mdlions)
Net Income after Tax 150 2 1061 853 1005 1181
Net Interest Income 1731 167 3 1957 193 4 169 7
Cther Income 12335 1203 88 4 703 127 3
Operahng Expenses 124 4 1261 1156 1181 1323
Financial Posiheon {US$ millons)
Total Assets 19,086 8 17,302 4 16,2365 15,2320 151195
Available-for-Sale Securihies 8,4691 8,451 8 8,280 4 76417 70621
Loans 5,286 3 37596 3,2558 3,309 4 392231
Term Financing 1,678 3 1,501 3 8800 8300 8500
Shareholders’ Equity 1,5347 1,3888 11282 1,1937 1,2058
Rahos (Per cent)
Profitabiity
Return on Average Shareholders’ Equity 10.3 84 73 84 101
Return on Average Assets o8 06 65 o7 08
Capital
BIS Risk Asset Ratio
- Total 1.6 125 128 126 1135
- Tier 1 94 100 103 102 102
Shareholders’ Equity os % of Total Assets 80 80 69 78 80
Asset Quality
Secunties as % of Total Assets 528 580 58 4 568 498
Loans as % of Total Assets 277 217 201 217 259
Liquidity
Liquid Assefs Ratio 708 767 779 751 710
Deposits to Loans Cover {imes})” 24 31 36 3é 31
* Deposts include Term Financing
Credit Ratings
Firch Moody's Standord &
Poors
Long-term A- Baal BBB+
Short term F-2 P-2 A2
Indwidual C
Finanaial Strength C
Outlock Stable Stable Stable
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GIB's imellectual capital and skill-sets were especially well demonstrated in 2004

through the bank's role as the exclusive tinancial advisor 1o the Saudi Electric Company.

The mandate involved the structuring of a SR6 billion. 13 year loan facility. This

represented Saudi Arabia's largest. and fongest tenor. corporate loan.




CHATRMANTS

TATEMENT

Sheikh Ebrahim Bin Khalhifa Al Khalifa
Chairman

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS,
[ am pleased to present the Annual Report of Gulf
International Bank B § C (GIB) for the year ended
315" December 2004
2004 proved to be an excellent year for GIB

[ am delighted to report that as a result of our efforts
to conschidate on sigmficant improvements across
the major operating activities in recent years, the
Group recorded the highest profit level in 1ts history,
of US$1502 mullion The strong performance
reflects further improvements across all of the bank's
principal business activities, demonstrating the
success of our strategic mitiatives combined with an
effective and proactive management of risk The
significant year-on-year 1ncrease 1n net income was
attributable to mcreases 1n both interest and non-
mterest eamings, the containment of expenses and a

lower level of provisions This provides testimony to
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our embracing of strategic change in 2002 as a
merchant bank focused primarily on the Gulf
Cooperation Council {(GCC), which has contributed
to the diversification and enhancement of income
This has also further enabled us to fulfill the
objective of achieving enhanced returns to our
shareholders and, at the same time, maintamng
favourable recognition from our clients, supervisory
authorities and nternational credit rating agencies
during the course of the year

The Group's 2004 activities were undertaken
in a global environment where synchromsed growth
was stronger than at any ttme in the past three
decades As the global recovery has become more
established, it has been accompanied by upgrades on
key sovereign and corporate risks by international
credit rating agencies During the course of the year,

wternational financial market and credit conditions
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT continued

greatly mmproved n response to strengthened
economic fundamentals as well as the upturn m
wvestor confidence

In the GCC region, robust hydrocarbon
revenues and an mcrease m fiscal spending sustamed
a strong growth momentum that has been n place
since 2000 This has further strengthened the
financial positions of all six GCC states, whlst
providing numerous opportumtics in development
and nfrastructural mnvestments The strong balance
sheets of regronal banks and GCC-based companies
reveal that they have also benefited from increased
activity and liqudity, supported by strong mvestor
and business confidence Governments and entities
in the region are choosing to mcreasingly tap
domesuc financial markets for their funding needs
In addition, there has been a growing trend towards
the 1ssuance of Islamically structured mstrumenis

As business opportunities have become more
prolific and vaned, parttcularly in the region’s
project finance market, GIB has further consolidated
its position as the leading financier and arranger
specialisimg in petrochemical and gas projects The
Group has also expanded 1ts capabilities mn areas
such as shipping finance, secondary market loan
asset tradmg and Islamic finance, while 1t remains
the region’s most active financial mstitution 1 the
loan agency busimess GIB also acted as the regional
syndication bank for the world’s largest o1l and gas
project financing deal 1n 2004, the Qatargas 11
liquefied natural gas facility

While merchant banking activities provide
significant support to the Group’s eamings, fees from
investment banking, advisory and management

services are also growing n healthy proportion Our
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objective 1s to continue building the Group’s flow of
non-interest income through mportant investment
banking mandates such as GIB’s exclusive financial
adwvisory role in the SR6 bullion, 15-year corporate
loan for the Saudi Electnical Company in mid-2004
The size and tenor of the loan was unprecedented 1n
Saudh Arabia's corporate finance history

The strong and stable revenues from
Treasury’s sizeable porifolio of investment-grade
securities continued to underpin the Group’s core
earnings during 2004 The securiuies portfolio 15 the
largest asset category 1n the Group’s balance sheet
and, besides its core earmings contribution, also
provides effective nisk dwversification and ready
hquidity Qutstanding results were also achieved
from Treasury’s investment and trading activities
across several other asset classes

Meanwhite, GIB’s operations in Saudi Arabia
have continued to strengthen and expand, following
the launch of the Riyadh branch in September 2000
The branch 1s a consistently profitable and ntegral
unit of the Group, renforced by the Cctober 2004
opening of our second branch 1n the Kingdom’s
second largest city and commercial hub of Jeddah
Gowng forward, we aim to further enhance our
presence in the Kingdom and thereby provide a
sigmficant thrust 10 our merchant banking services
within that market

GIB’s shareholders’ equuty at the end of 2004
stood at US$1,534 7 million, the first time that 1t has
exceeded US$1 5 billion The US$1459 million
mcrease over the 2003 year end reflects 2004 net
mcome as well as a further improvement 1 the fair
value of the available-for-sale securities portfolio At

the 2004 year end, the fair value of the available-for-
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sale securities portfolio exceeded the book value by
US$97 4 million

During 2004, GIB continued to progress with
1ts plans for the implementation of the new Basel [1
capital adequacy gwdelines In June, the Basel
Committee 1ssued the final Basel Il gmdelines which
are now due to be mtroduced by the end of 2006
GIB 15 fully commitied 10 the Basel Committee’s
objective of strengtheming the soundness and
stability of the international banking system,
promoting the adoption of stronger risk management
practices, and mcreasing the nisk-sensitivity of
capital requirements The bank has, for a number of
years, been proactively preparing iself for the
eventual introduction of the new regulations It now
has 1 place the necessary nisk management
framework, technology systems and human
resources to meet the Basel I requirements well
ahead of the final implementation deadlines,
although certain work 15 sull ongoing n relation to
the supporting data requirements

The Group remaims steadfast 1 1ts goal to
become the GCC Merchant Bank of choice, with
market leadership n uts portfolio of activities To
this end, we arm to further identify and develop
opportunities 1n the GCC region and the wider
Middle East in 2005 At a tuime when economic
policies 1n the region are bwilding on the theme of
liberalisatron and reform across a broad spectrum
of sectors, such opportunities are likely to be
muluiple and diverse This will allow us to employ
our exatensive range of skills i treasury,
assel management, mvestment banking, corporate
finance, Islamic banking, and project and

structured finance

B
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In addition, GIB 15 commuitted to supporting
the economic development and growth of the GCC
region Qur proneering character and excellent track
record 1n a varniety of arcas are testimony to this
determinaton, and we will continue to develop our
capabilities 1n offering new and more sophisticated
services as the opportumties arise

On behalf of the Group, 1 would like to take
this opportunity to ¢xpress my gratitude to the
retinng members of the Board of Directors Therr
hard work and dibigenge has made a valuable
contribution to the success of GIB during thew
tenure, and I wish them every success for the future
I would also like to welcome Dr Khahd Bin Abdulla
Al-Sweillem, Mr Khahd Bin Abdulla Al-Suwaidi and
Mr Nasser Bin Khamis Al-Suwaidl, as our new
members of the Board, with certamty that they will
serve the Bank with diligence and distinction

| am confident that the tremendous support of
GIB’s shareholders and the broad expertise of our
Board of Directors will continue to remain the
foundation of our success Their commitment has
endowed the Group with a spint of dedication and
hard work that has long been prevalent across our
highly experienced management and staff, while it
has also sustamned their enterprising spirit m

continuously exploring new business avenues

Ebrahim Bm Khalifa Al Khal:fa
Charrman




GIB's Merchant Banking Group successtully syndicated a USS1.1 billion facility tor
Sohar Refinery in the Sultanate of Oman.




A BROAD-BASED AND LARGELY BUOYANT
GLOBAL RECOVERY DURING MUCH OF 2004,
coupled with the robust pace of cxpansion
throughout the Gulf region has created a dynamic
operating environment for GIB As a result, the
Group has recorded s highest ever financial
performance, supported by strong contributions
across the magor business activities

Prospects for 2005 arc ecncouraging,
sustained by the vigorous rate of economuc activity
underway across the GCC countnies and the wider
Middle East GIB’s improved earnings potential,
commitment to furtherng 1ts business development,
and steadily rising international credit ratings are
expected to enable the Group to further benefit from
the attractive opportunities Moreover, as the pace of
structural reform becomes more evident i the
region, mncreastng demand for GIB's merchant and

mvestment banking products 1s anticipated

ECONOMIC AND BUSENESS OVLRVIEW

Global economic growth mamntained i1ts upward
path m 2004, nsing by 4%, the highest level since
2000 Stock markets around the world experienced
strong trading momentum, with emerging markets
n particular enjoying higher than average returns
On commodity exchanges, crude o1l and precious
metals exhibited eaceptional performance, while
default ratcs in global credit markets declined
considerably

However, during the course of the year,

confidence generated by the nising year-on-year

.
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quarterly expansion across the US, Eurozone and
Asian cconomies was overshadowed by concerns
over the higher o1l prices and ndications of rising
interest rates Tnvestors have increasingly focused
on the potential of these factors to derail the global
recovery, while excessive fiscal and current account
deficits in the leading economies have added to
the concerns

Confidence across regional governments
and businesses remamns firm, with prospering local
A broad

economes and markets range of

mfluences  underlie the dynamic  regional
environment wcluding high o1l prices which have
not only reduced financial pressures, but have also
mjected new liquidity and further enhanced the
already favourable misk profile of the GCC
countrics

Nevertheless, in spite of ncreasing oil
revenues, GCC countries have mantained a prudent
fiscal policy stance that has been largely focused on
the reduciton of budget deficits and outstanding
domestic debt This has not only eamed regional
governments nternational plaudits, but has also
been conducive to providing a more stable
environment within  which non-o1l  activity
has thrived

As the pace of reform has become
ncreasingly evident in the region, this has allowed
GCC economies to benefit from mmproved
transparency m fiscal policy and government
finance, alongside regulations permitting increased

foreign ownership and competition, and the

<
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MANAGEMENT REVIEW continued

ememgence of new capital markets laws 1n
individual states Most notably, vibrant private
sector activity and the growmng sigmficance of
privatisation are also expected to provide further
stimulus to cconomic growth

The concept of privatisanon 1s  also
becommg more widely accepted around the Gulf
region, with public authorities progressively
divesting key services, industries and infrastructure
mstallations, as well as reorgamising and
corporatising other public concerns This in turn has
enabled governments to pass some of the financing
of the mvestment and working capital needs of
public entities to regional capital markets

In 2004, the GCC ecconomies hosted
significant private and joint sector expansion in the
base metals, nformation technology, liquefied
natural gas, petrochemicals, power generation,
telecommunications and transportation mdustries
Meanwhile, tourism related activity 15 growing in
prominence throughout the Gulf region, as the
sector’s contribution to regional economic activity
has consistently expanded along side providing a
variety of Jobs for nationals

The Gulf region’s potential to further bolster
its positton as one of the world's more rapidly
expanding economic areas remains sigmificant,
particularly given the advantageous position of the
focal compames and financial mstitutions to not
only participate but also benefit as opportunities
emenz m Iraq Beyond this, the attraction of the
GCC countries also e¢manates from their

infrastructure 1nvestment needs estumated at

between US$300 ballion to US$400 billion, over the
coming decade, together with the huge demand
potential of the region’s markets driven by the

favourable social and demographic factors

MERCHANT BANKING

The Merchant Banking Group was successful
during 2004 1n further implementing the expansion
strategy of the bank within the GCC matket The
Group was reorgamised during 2004 so as to
position ntself to support growth targets and further
exploit the emerging opportunities particularly m
the GCC markets Business development and chent
servicing tesponsibilities are now vested in threc
teams, while product and distribution functions
with inherent synergies were consolidated nto a
smgle platform consisting of project finance,
structured finance, loan syndications, lslamic
banking, asset trading and loan agency

The Merchant Banking Group mmproved 1ts
contribution to the overall mcome of the Bank
during the year, through the implementation of a
carefully formulated business strategy focussing on
ingreased market penctration and  product
dwversificaion The Group has also mamtamed 1ts
dommance 1n the GCC project finance market, a
critical element of the overall Bank strategy

The increasing appeal of Islamic banking
products as a means of diversifying available
funding seurces for our clients has been recognised
and efforts have been made to increase the Bank’s
profile m the Islamic banking market

The Kingdom of Saudi Arabia continues to
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be our major market and Merchant Banking
continued 1ts marketing thrust n the Central and
Eastern Provinces of the Kingdom through s
Riyadh Branch as well as the offshore relationship
and structured finance teams m Bahrain A new
branch was established in Jeddah in October 2004
1n order to achieve greater market penetration m the
Western Province Major transactions undertaken
by the Bank in Saud: Arabia during the ycar
include mandated lead arranger 1n the US$460
milion term financing for the ntegrated twmn
projects of Saudi Chevron Phillips Company and
Jubail Chevron Phillips Company, mandated lead
arranger 1n the US$330 million expansion financing
for Saudi Arabian Fertihizer Company, lead arranger
n the US$2 35 billion Sharia’a compliant bridge
financing for Ettihad Etisalat’s GSM project, lead
arranger 1n the US$510 milhkon term financing for
the first ever independent cogeneration power
project Tihama Power Generation Company, lead
arranger in the SR6 bilhon corporate funding for
the Saudi Electricity Company and lead arranger in
the UJS$500 millzon maiden borrowing by SAMBA
Finanaial Group

1n Kuwait, the Bank played an active role in
supporting the corporate sector 1n the country and
in the fund raising by Kuwait1 banks during the
year The sigmficant transactions during 2004
nclude lead arranger m the USS600 mullion
refinancing for Equate Petrochemical Company,
which included conventional as well as Islamc
tranches, mandated lead manager i the US$60

million floating rale note 1ssue for National

@ Page 11

Industries Group of Kuwait, mandated lead
arranger in the US$150 million term loan for Bank
of Kuwait and the Middle Last, mandated lead
arranger 1 the US$100 mulhon facility for the
Kuwait Commercial Facilitics Co and arranger n
the US$225 mllion facility for Al Ahlh Bank
of Kuwait

In Bahrain, the Bank acted as a mandated
lead arranger 1n the US$492 milhion financing for
Al Ezzel Power Company In addition, the Bank has
been mandated as a lead arranger in the USSI
billion  mulu-tranche financing for Bahramn
Petroleum Company’s refinery eapansion and
has also secured the role of the commercial
facility agent

GIB has historically played a major role n
supporting projects in Qatar, which 1s tn the process
of implementing several large projects In addition
to being mandated a lead arranger 1n the US$350
milhion loan for the State of Qatar, the Bank acted
as a mandated lead arranger and facility agent 1n the
US$150 million term financing for the Commercial
Bank of Qatar In the field of project and corporate
financing, the Bank acted as mandated lead
arranger, lead arranger or arranger in financings for
Qatar Vinyl Company, Qatar Cement Co, Al
Fardan Group, Qatar Airways and Ras Laffan
Liquefied Gas Company The most notewerthy
transaction concluded during the year, mn which the
Bank acted as a mandated lead arranger, was the
US$4 bilhon Qatar Gas Il financing, one of the
largest project financing ftransactions to be

undertaken in the region
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MANAGEMENT REVIEW cantinued

Following the successful syndication and
closing during the year of the US$1 1 billion Sohar
Refinery transaction in the Sultanate of Oman, the
Bank also acted as one of the mandated lead
arrangers for Oman LNG and Qalhat LNG The
Bank took an active tnterest in the development of
mfrastructure and tourism projects i Oman by
financing Salalah Port Services Company, Barr Al
Jissah Resort Company and Sohar Power Company
The Group’s ability to structure and arrange on a
fully underwritten basis linuted recourse financing
for LNG shipping projects was successfully
demonstrated 1n the exccution of a US$155 milhion
mulu-tranche term financing for Energy Spring
LNG Shipping Co

The Bank’s presence in the UAE banking
market was strengthened during 2004 by enlarging
the marketing team 1o our Abu [hab
Representative Office The Bank was one of the
semor lenders and mandated lead arrangers m the
US$1 2 billion, 5 year bridge financing arranged for
Dolphin Energy Ltd [he Bank was also involved in
arrangmg financing for Enurates Aarhnes, Iirst
Gulf Bank and Mashreq Bank GIB’s experience in
structuring and 1ntegrating multiple sources of
funds for project finance transactions were
showcased 1n our role as coordinator in the US$530
million Istamic facility as well as onc of the six
mandated lead managers for the world's largest
Islamic Sukuk 1ssue arranged for the Duba
Government for the expansion of Dubm
International Airport

At the international level, the Bank provided

selective support to 1nternational contractors and
project sponsors undertaking projects n the region
through the 1ssuance of performance and project

related guarantees and working caprtat facilities

INVESTMENI BANKING

GIB’s investment banking work 1n 2004 took place
against a background of strong stock markets across
the GCC The market capitalisation of the region’s
stoch exchanges climbed to well over US$400
billion by year-end, with a standout performance
from the Saudi stock market, which rose by around
835 per cent

Regional govemments remain commutted to
the strengthening and expansion of thewr capial
markets with further regulation and encouragement
to compantes to List their shares This was perhaps
best 1llustrated 1n Saudi Arabia, where the Capital
Market Authority was launched and quickly
became operational These measures 1 the
Kingdom and elsewhere n the GCC are expected to
lead to more general corporate activity and a
quickening pace of privatisation

The Group retained us role as the region’s
pre-eminent advisor and arranger for private
placements and 1POs in 2004, and successfully
targeted a range of new opportunities throughout
the GCC GIB’s mtellectual capital and skall-sets
were espectally well demonstrated in 2004 through
its role as the exclusive financial adviser to the
Saudh Electric Company The mandate mvolved
structuning the largest and longest tenor corporate

loan ever 1n Saud: Arabia, a SR6 billion (US$1 6
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billion), 15-year facility signed in May 2004

Earlier in the year, GIB, acted as advisor to
the listed Aseer Trading, Tounsm and
Manufacturing Company n 1ts acquisition of
Dallah Industnial Investment Company A private
placement of SR290 mullion, representing a sale of
40% of the shares in Al Tayyar Travel Group, was
also successfully compteted

Throughout the year, progress was made on
the PO for Bank Al-Bilad, which brought together
8 of Saud: Arabia’s former money exchanges to
form a new bank, and for which GIB 15 the
exclusive financial adviser This SR1 5 llion TPO
involving the sale of 3 million shares 1s now
expected to take place early i 2005

GIB’s investment banking actvity suggests
that a sigmficant number of new ground-breaking
transacttons i Saudi Arabia are poised to come to
market, including the public listing of a series of
previously, privately held family companies and,
cventually, the issue of corperate bonds to be
traded on the Saudi exchange Nevertheless,
[nvestment Banking s activities were not confined
to Saud: Arabia alone, with mandates having also
been won in Oman and the UAE to assist family
and other companies to raise new equity through a
private placement or IPO It 1s anticipated
that these latter transactions will be in the market
in 2005

Outside of the stock markets, GIB actively
pursued project finance adwvisory mandates
(including both debt and equity placements) from

major mdustrial concerns in the GCC The Saud

Electne Company loan will be used for project
finance purposes, as with a US$200 million equity
raising for the Advanced Polypropylene Company’s
grassroots petrochemical project, which was also
completed during 2004

Investment Banking continues to pursue 1ts
objectives of bringing nternational  class
investment banking services to the GCC public and

privale seclors

FINANCIAL MARKETS AND ASSET
MANAGENMEN1

GiB’s financial markcts and asset management
activities  continued to  grow, seizing the
opportunities provided by its success and the
continued recovery of global markets m 2004

Chient asset under management by GIB’s
UK based investment banking substidhary registered
steady advances, growing from just over
US$ 11 billon to over the US$13 billion mark, and
have now doubied over the past three years Fees
derived from the discreuenary portfolio and fund
management activities have continued to rise, with
the prospect of further growth based on a
sustainable platform

Fmancial markets trading continued to
generate profits in an environment charactertsed by
strong credit markets, vanable equity markets and
volatile interest and currency markets

Complementing 1ts unique franchise as the
only Gulf-based wnstitution with an in-house global
asset management capability, GIB UK’s shiil-sets

were recogmsed 1n June 2004 by Fuich Raungs The
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MANAGEMENT REVIEW continued

agency awarded the firm one of the highest ratings
achieved by a structured products manager, sighting
GiB’s “experuse m underwriling and asset
selection, as reflecied by the sound performance of
the transactions to date

GIB’s UK-based investment teams manage
a range of intermnationally orientated nvestment
products and assets, covering global and regional
equity markets, global convertible bonds, corporate
debt, asset-backed securities, government debt
including emerging markets, global interest rates
and currencies

The investment strategies are diverse, and
mclude enhancing indexed equity portfolios and
hedge fund trading strategies, which targel an
absolute return over LIBOR A key event m this
context was the July re-launch of the Falcon
Relative Value Fund, incorporating four separate
hedge funds into a single multi-strategy equity
hedge fund that utilises up to eight different hedge
fund strategies

GIB has also continued to develop 1ts
structured products range, ufilising the extensive
expenence ganed from trading these securities on its
own account and for the benefit of a growmng chent
base in Europe, with insttutional funds now worth
more than US$12 billion Followmng on from the
1ssues m 2002 and 2003 of Euro denomunated
collateralised debt obhgations (CDOs), GIB
confirmed s status within Europe as a leading
manager of mezzaune ABS products through the 1ssue
of a sterhng denommated GBP 200 mihion CDO
Further structured products are envisaged for 2005

TREASURY
GIB’s Treasury 1s responsible for the funding
activities of the GIB Group and the capital market
mvestment activities Over the years 1t has
successfully  established GIB’s name n
international and rtegional money markets and
established 1ts own reputation as a rehable and
professional business partner With its specrahist
skills and global reach, G1B’s Treasury continued to
cater to the diverse financial needs of a broad client
base of regional corporates, financial institutions
and government entitics

2004 saw another outstanding performance
by Treasury, making a substantial contnibution to
the bank’s net income, even as marhet conditions
remained difficult with low interest rates, tight
credit spreads and volatile exchange rates
prevailing for the most part

A key feature of Treasury’s nvestment
activities in recent years has been the steady growth
of a large portfolio of investment grade floating rate
securities, which stabihised during 2004 at a level of
around US$7 billion This available-for-sale
securities portfolio 1s lighly lrquid and generates a
stable mcome strcam, besides providing
considerable diversification of nisk

In order to achieve an efficient asset mix
with adequate diversification, Treasury also makes
selective investments m specialised markets and
asset classes through cxternal fund managers
Sirmilar to 2003, several of these funds turmed in
exceptionally strong performances 1 2004,

particularly mn emerging market debt
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A strategic objective of the bank 15 to
lengthen the matunty of 1ts funding and,
accordingly, the total term ltabilities have reached a
strong level of USS$1 8 billton The positive trend of
the bank’s credit ratings will provide Treasury with
the opportunity to further tap other sources of
competitively priced longer-term funds m early
2005 The contnuation of GIB’s historically stable
trend of customers deposit retention further
strengthens the bank’s hiquidity profile

GCC capital markets wiinessed some
successful new bond 1ssues 1n 2004, both for
conventional floating rate notes and the energing
class of Islamic bond, or Sukuk, mstruments GIB
participated 1n these issues, thereby clearly
demonstrating 1ts strategic commitment to the
region and reiterating its domunant position n the
Gulf's banking industny

Owmg to the prevaithing low levels of
mterest rates and volatle exchange rate movements
during 2004, GIB saw a continuation of the strong
customer demand for denvatives to hedge thewr
interest rate and currency risks This 1s expected to

contmue m 2005

4 Page 15 @




GIB plays a major role in supporting development projects in the GCC. including the

expansion of hey aluminium and petrachemical plants. and oil. gas and power

generation projects,
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CONSOLIDATED NET INCOME WAS AT A
HISTORICAL RECORD LEVEL IN 2004
Consolidated net income after tax at US31502
million for the year was US344 1 million or 41 6 per
cent up on the prior year This represented a refum on
average shareholder’s equily of 103 per cent
compared to a return of 8 4 per cent in 2003

The strong performance reflected further
improvements across all of the bank’s principal
business activities, demonstraung the continued
success of the Group's GCC-focused merchant
banking strategy The significant year-on-year
increase 1n the Group’s profit was attributable to
ncreases 1 both interest and nen-mierest earmngs,
the containment of expenses, and a lower level of
provisions The increase 1n interest earnings was
pnncipally due to sigmificantly higher loan volumes
and margmns, related 1n particular to GCC project and
structured financings Non-interest income benefited
from strong fec-based income derived from the
Group’s strategically important merchant banking
activities, including asset and fund management and
corporate advisory Operating expenses were USS1 7
mallion down on the prier year The reduction
expenses was achieved despite the negative impact of
the weaker US Dollar on foreign currency
denominated expenses The year-on-year decrease
expenses reflected the Group's continued disciplined
approach to cost control As referred to in the section
on operating expenses, GIB’s profit per employece
and cost to income ratios are extremely efTicient by
international comparison 2004 net income was net of
a U$%$23 8 mullion provision charge for credit losses
This compared to a US$552 mllion provision
charge n the prior year The provision charge largely

represented an addihon to the loan non-specific
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proviston resulung from substantial growth in the
loan portfolto during the year The net charge for
specific provisions was only US$4 ¢ mullion

MNET INTERES T INCOME

Net interest income at US$173 1 million was USS5 8
mullion or 3 5 per cent up on the prior year Net
interest income 15 denved from five principal
sources earnings on the mvestment of the Group’s
net free capital, margin mmcome on the commercial
lending and available-for-sale secunty portfohos,
and interest earnings from the securities tradmg
portfolio and money book activiies Money book
carnings represent the differential between the
funding cost of interest-bearing assets based on
mternal transfer pricing methodologies and the
actual funding cost incurred by the Bank This
includes benefits derived from the mismatch of the
repricing profile of the Group’s interest-bearing
assets and hiabilihes Net nterest income 15 also
reported net of the funding cost of non-iterest
bearing investments from which income 1s denved in
the form of dividends and capital gams, and reported
n the relevant calegery mn cther income

Short term US nterest rates began to rise
the second half of 2004 following a prolonged period
of low absolute interest rates The Federal Reserve
raised interest rates five tumes in the second half of
the year from 1 0 per cent to 2 25 per cent at the end
of 2004 The increases in mterest rates impacted the
Group's interest earnings in three specific respects,
although had an overall positive impact on net
interest income They firstly contributed to an
enhancement of the nterest earmngs on the
vestment of the Group’s net free capital The net

free capital was largely uninvested during the year
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with the uninvested funds placed on a short term basis
mn the money marhet This position had been adopted
m late 2003 1n anuicipation of a nsing interest rate
environment, and resulted 1 a hugher overall yield on
the net free caputal funds in 2004 Secondly, while the
Group’s money book activity continued to generate
strong nterest earmings n 2004, they were
nevertheless 15 per cent lower than m 2003 Money
book carnings n the previous year had benefited from
the dechiming and low interest rate environment
Lastly, the higher mterest rate environment also
resulted i an mcrease 1n the funding cost of non-
mterest bearing nvestments However, for those
mvestments for winch the related mcome 1s derived
n the form of dividends, there was also an associated
and compensating mcrease mn dividend income as
referred to in the section on other income

The year-on-ycar imcrease . nct interest
ncome was also attributable to higher net nterest
carmings derived from the Group’s commercial
lending portfolio Loan margin income was 37 per
cent up on the previous year This reflected a
significant growth in the loan portfolio during the
year as well as a further improvement 1n margms In
particular, the volume of GCC loans grew by US$1 0
bithon or one third during 2004 The increase 1n
margins was attributable to a continued focus on
tigher value-added, skill-based commercial banking
acttvities, including project and structured financtngs
and lead manager roles m syndicated facilines

Margin mcome on the available-for-sale
secunties portfolio contnued to be the lagest
contnibutor to the Group's interest earmings,
accounting for almost 40 per cent of net interest
come in 2004 Margin income on available-for-sale
securities nevertheless decreased m 2004 with
matuning assets being replaced at lower spreads

following the sigmificant narrowing n credit spreads

Gross income development (US$ millions)
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70.3 884 1203 1235
e 2970 2637 2841 2876 2966

that has taken place over the last two years as a result
of the improvement m the credit environment The
credi quality of the available-for-sale secunties
portiolio continued to be emphasised with 97 7 per
cent of avatlable-for-sale debt securnities at the 2004
year end being mvestment grade-rated

Trading-related interest earmings were 13 per
cent up on the prior year This component of interest
earnings 15, however, relatively volaule from penod
to period, depending on the composition of the
trading portfohio

OTHER INCOME

Onher income at US$123 5 mullion for the year was
US3$3 2 nulhon up on the prior year level An analysis
of other income wiath prior year comparatives 1s set
out m note 19 1o the consohdated financiat
slatements

Dividend income of US$32 8 million was
US3$9 | million higher than in 2003 Dividend mcome
was pnncipally received from nvestments n
leveraged finance vehicles and from externally
managed funds The funding cost of these investments
15 reported i net interest mncome The year-on-year
increase i drvidend income reflected the positive

impact of the higher interest rate environment on the
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income from the underlying investments within the
leveraged finance velicles The underlymg
mvestments of these vehicles are principally hagh
quality, nvestment grade-rated debt secunies

The Group's various trading activities,
including foreign exchange, generated a US$304
million profit for the year compared to a US$50 8
mithon profit in 2003 Strong trading revenues were
generated from emerging market and corporate debt
in particular, although material contributtons were
also made by the Group's trading activities 1n foreign
exchange and equities 2004 was charactenised by
strong performances across most credit-related asset
classes, notably corporate debt, asset backed
secunties and emerging market debt despite the tight
spreads prevailing during the year Trading revenues
benefited from relative value, arbitrage and non-
directional trading strategies These strategies
contributed 1n particular to the return on emerging
marhet debt trading sigmficantly outperforming the
EMBI Plus Index Equity markets durtng 2004 were
largely range bound thereby lLimiting trading
opportumties compared to 2003

Profits on avalable-for-sale  sccuritics
amounted to US$23 2 million for the year This
included a $5 9 miulhion profit realised on the sale of
a strategic equity holding through an IPO and profits
of US$4 0 muilion realised on the sale of shares
received 1n previous years as part of loan
restructurings Profits were also realised on the sale
and ecarly redemption of securities in the Treasury
floating rate debt secunity portfolio The portfolio s
commented on in mere detail mn the section on
available-for-sale secunuies

Investment banking and management fees at
US$23 6 nullion were US$4 8 mllion or 255 per
cent up on the prior year This followed year-on-year
ngreases of 10 6 per cent and 45 3 per cent m 2003

and 2002 respectively This income category
compnises fees generated by the Group’s asset
management, fund management, corporate advisory
and underwriting acuvities The significant yearon-
year incrcases reflect the Group’s successful efforts
n diversifying revenues though the development of
a wide range of customer-related products and
services lhe increase 1n asset and fund
management fees 1n 2004 was attnbutable to a
higher volume of funds under management and also
10 & higher level of performance fees As referred to
n note 29 to the consolidated financial statements,
assets held mn a fiduciary capacily increased by
US$2 2 billion or 20 per cent dunng the year 1o
US313 6 billion at 315! December 2004
Comnussions on letters of credit and guarantee
at US$10 1 milhon were US$12 million or 13 5 per
cent up on the prior year and therefore continued to
make an important contribuilon to non-interest
meome The year-on-year advance was attnbutable to
an merecase 1 guarantee commuissions on GCC-
related business activities Other fee and sundry
meome principally comprised loan comnutment and

Islanuc finance arrangement fees

OPERATING EXPENSES

Operating evpenses at US$124 4 million were
UUS$1 7 million down on the prior year The year-on-
year decrease 1n expenses was achieved despate the
negative impact of the weaker US Dollar prevanling
during the year This resulted tn an increase in the
US$ equivaient of the foreign currency denominated
expenses of overseas offices GIB continues to
maitamn one of the highest profit per employee
ratios for any bank n the world 1n addition to an
extremely low cost to income ratio According to a
survey of the top 1,000 banks n the world pubtished
by The Banker magazine in July 2004, GIB s profit
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per employee n 2003 was one of the highest among
the top 1,000 banks ranked by Tier 1 capital In
addition, the cost to income ratio of 43 8 per cent n
2003 was sigmficantly lower than the average ratio
for each geograpmc region, including the Mhddle
East (50 2 per cent), US A (59 6 per cent), Europe
(61 8 per cent) and Japan (81 6 per cent) In 2004, the
Group's ¢cost to income rauo was 41 9 per cent, an
extremely efficient ratio by international companson
Staff expenses were US35 4 million or 6 5 per
cent up on the pnor year This was atinbutable to lugher
perlormance-retated remuneration as a result of the
Group's sigmficantly stronger performance and higher
release expenses associated with a further reduction 1n
the Group s headcount The Group’s total headcount at
the 2004 vear end of 559 was 23 less than at the end of
2003 The decrease was largely the result of further
efficiencies achieved within back ofiice functions I[n
particular, durmg 2004 the London branch back office
functions, which had previously been outsourced to
GIBUK, were transfermed to GIB’s Head Office in
Bahrain giving nse to maternial cost savings Premuses
and other operating expenses were both successfully
contained below prior year levels Premises expenses
benefited from the reversal of an unrequired office
dilapidation reserve following the rencgotiation of the

London office lease, as well as from a reduction in the

BIS risk asset ratio (%}

16

12

2000 2001 2002 2003 2004
11.5% 12.6% 12.8% 12.5% 11.6%

office space occupied by the London based subsidiary,
GIBUR Other operaung expenses benefited from

ongotng cost control measures

CAPHALSTRENGTH

Shareholders™ equity amounted to US$1,534 7 milhion
at 315! December 2004 This 1s the first tume that the
bank’s shareholders’ equity has exceeded USEI1 S5
bitlion At the 2004 year end the ratio of shareholders’
equty and Tier 1 capital to total assets were 8 O per
cent and 7 5 per cent respectively, ratios that are bagh
by international compartson The average Tier 1
caputal to lotal assets ratio of the top 1,000 world
banks was 45 per cent according to a survey
published 1n The Banker magazine in July 2004

A UUS$145 9 muillion increase in shareholders’
equity during 2004 compnised the net of the US$150 2
million profit for the year, a US$53 1 million dividend
patd in respect of 2003, and a US$48 8 mullion net
increase tn the fair value of available-for-sale
securities and derivative cash flow hedges In
accordance with IAS 39, changes 1n the fair values of
available-for-sale securities and denvative cash flow
hedges arc accounted for in shareholders’ equity

With a total regulatory capital base of
US$1,774 3 million and total nsk-weighted exposure
of US$15,305 7 million, the risk asset ratio calculated
i accordance with the gwdehines of the Basel
Commutice on Banking Supervision was 11 6 per cent
In accordance with mternattonal regulatory gwidelmes,
the fair value adjustments to equity ansmg under IAS
39 m relation to avadable-for-sale securittes and
denvative cash flow hedges are excluded from the
regulatory capital base, with the exception of
unrealised gamns and losses on equity mnvestments As
a result, at the 2004 year end net fair value gaimns of
US$101 7 million were deducted from sharcholder’s
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equity to denve the regulatory capital base for capital
adequacy purposes The Bank’s regulatory capital
base 15 enhanced by two 10 year subordinated loan
facilities amounting 1n total 1o UJS$150 0 mullion The
subordinated loans are approved for inclusion m Tier 2
capital for capatal adequacy purposes by the Bank’s
regulator, the Bahrain Menetary Agency (BMA) The
risk asset ratio 1ncorporates market nsk-weighted
exposure Exposure to general market nisk 1s
calculated utlising a Value-at-Risk model 1
accordance with the provisions of the Amendment to
the Capital Accord to Incorporate Market Risk The
use of the internal model approach for the calculation
of the caputal requirement for general market risk has
been approved by the BMA The hugh proportion of
shareholders’ equity within the total capital base
resulted 1n a Tier 1 ratio of 9 4 per cent Note 28 to the
consolidated financial statements provides further
details on capital adequacy The nsk asset ratio
calculated 1n accordance with the gmdelines of the
Bank’s regulatory authority, the BMA, was 13 2 per
cent at the 2004 year end Under the BMA guidetines,
GCC governments and government-owned entities are

accorded the same preferential nsk weighting as for

Asset mix by category (%)

100

80

60

40

20
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Car 31 32 20 16 15
Poowarnend 212 183 195 187 180
Losns and 259 207 201 217 277
Secunes 498 568 584 580 3528
Total 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000

OECD governments The BMA applies a mumimum
risk asset ratio of 12 per cent compared to a minimum
of 8 per cent prescribed by the Basel Commuttee
Factors which contribute to the Group’s
favourable capital adequacy position are the strong
capital base, the level of non-specific provisions and
sigmficant exposure to major OECD country
governments, mcluding Sandi Arabia, as well as the

bankmg sector

ASSET QUALITY

The geographical diversification of nisk assets 15 set
out 1n note 22 to the consohdated financial
statements Further assessment of asset quahity can be
facilitated by reference to note 30 to the consohdated
financial statements on the far value of financial
mstruments Based on the valuation methodologies
set out mn that note, the net fair values of all on- and
off-balance sheet financial mstruments exceeded their
net book values at 315! December 2004 by USS$4 1
million All non-trading securitics are classified as
avallable-forsale and measured at far value
Available-for-sale securities are accordingly stated at
tair value n the consolidated balance sheet

At the 2004 year end, available-fo-sale
securiigs accounted for 44 4 per cent of total assets

while loans and advances represented 27 7 per cent

AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE SECURITIES

Available-forsale (AFS) securiies totalled
US$8,469 1 million at 315t December 2004 The
avallable-fo rsale secunties portfolio represents not
only a substantial and effective hquidity reserve but
also an effective intemational geographical
dwversification of the Group’s risk assets with
81 7 per cent of the portfolio compnising securities of

North American and FEuropean 1ssuers The
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EW continued

Available-for-sale securities rating profile

US$ millions %

AAM/Aaao rated debt securines 1,459 2 172
Debt secumhes of other imesmentgmde ssuers 42184 734
Cther debt secunties 1860 22
Equities and equity funds 8055 72
Total 84691 1000

remaining balance largely comprises securities
1ssued by GCC country governments

AFS securities principally comprise two
types of debt secunty portfolios and a more limted
mvestment m equittes and equity funds The larger
debt security portfolio comprises floating rate
securities or fixed rate securitzes that have been
swapped to yield constant spreads over LIBOR
These accounted for 84 8 per cent of the total AFS
secunues portfoho at the 2004 year end The smaller
debt security portfolio comprises fixed mmcome
securities This portfolio amounted to US$681 6
million at the end of 2004 This largely compnsed
GCC country government bonds with ongmal
maturities of up 10 two years

An analysis of the AFS secunities portfolso by
rating category 1s set out m note 6(a) to the
consolidated financial statements US$1,459 2
mullion or 18 6 per cent of the AFS debt secunties at
the 2004 year end represented AAA/Aaa rated
securities Based on the rating of the 1ssuer, a further
US$6.218 4 million or 79 | per cent of the AFS debt
securities represented other mvestment grade-rated

secunities Thus 97 7 per cent of the total debt

securittes comprised investment grade-rated
securiies Other debt securities, the 1ssuers of which
are rated below BBB-/Baa3 or are unrated, amounted
to US$i186 0 rmullion at the end of 2004, thus
compnising only 2 3 per cent of the total AFS debt
securities portfolio The credit nisk associated with
these securities is rigorously momtored within the
overall credit nsk management process The
securities are therefore subject to the same stnngent
credit requirements as standard lending and credit-
related contmgent transactions Equities and equity
funds at 315! December 2004 amounted to US$605 5
milhor The equitics and equity fund portfolio 1s
principally mnvested 1n the equity tranches of
leveraged finance, specialised investment vehicles
and, to a very lmuted extent, n a number of
externally managed nvestments which provide a
diversified exposure to private equity and real estate
markets The underlying investmenis of the
leveraged finance vehicles principally comprise high
quality investment grade-rated floating rate debt
securittes The investments generate an attractive and
stable margm over LIBOR by means of the leveraged

characteristics of the investment vehicles

LOANS AND ADVANCES

Loans and advances amounted to US3$5,286 3
million at the 2004 year end This represented a
US$1,526 7 million or 406 per cent increase
compared to the 2003 year end The ncrease
principaily reflected further growth mn the GCC loan
portfolio and, mn particular, project and structured
finarce-related facilities withun the region, m line with
the Group’s strategic emphasis on relationshup banking
i the GCC 74 2 per cent, or almost three quarters, of
the loan portfolio at the 2004 year end represented
lending wiathin GIB’s core market in the GCC states
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The geographical diversification of the Croup's
overall credit nisk 1s achieved through the international
secunties markets rather than through participation in
nternational syndicated lending transactions

Based on contractual matunties at the
balance sheet date, 48 7 per cent of the loan portfolio
was due to mature within one year while 74 6 per
cent was due to mature within three years Details of
exposure within the loan portfolio to GCC and
QOECD country governments are contained 1n note 7
to the consolidated financial statements while the
geographical distribution of loans and advances 1s set
out n note 22 The portfolio contained no significant
concentrations by industnal sector As discussed in
note 30, the net fair value of loans and advances
exceeded their net book value by US34 1 mulhion

Total loan loss provisions at 3 15! December
2004 amounted to US$721 8 million Counterparty
specific provisions amounted to US$519 6 million
while neon-specific provisions were US$202 2
milhion Specific provisions at the 2004 year end
represented 90 2 per cent of loans aganst which a
specific provision had been made Specific provision
utilisations during 2004 totalled US$28 5 m:lion
The utilisations arose on the sale or setilement of the
related loans White loans were sold or settled at less
than the nominal values, the proceeds exceeded the
provisioned net book values in all cases The
provision charge for loans and advances was
US$18 6 million for the year This comprised the net
of a US3$12 muliion release of specific loan
provisions as a result of the sale and settlement of
provisioned loans above their net book values, and a
US$198 mullion charge for non-speaific loan
provisions The increase in the non-specific loan
provision resulted from the substantial increase n the

loan portfolio during the year Specilic provisions are

Loan maturity profile

UUS% rrallicns %
Year 1 25758 487
Yaors 28 2 1,3700 259
Yeors 48 5 6067 15
Over 5 yeors 7338 139
Total 52863 1000

mamntained 1n the currencies of the related exposures
The further weakening in the US Dollar during the
year resulted in a US$10 2 million increase in the
US Dollar equivalent of speeific loan provisions
mainained 1n foreign cwrencies This increase was,
however, offset by an equvalent mncrease m the
related loan exposures The non-specific provision at
the year end represented 3 7 per cent of loans which
had not been specifically provided against.

Speaific provisions are determined based on
the recoverable amount of the loan The recoverable
amount 18 measured as the present value of the
eapected future cash flows discounted based on the
interest rate at the inception of the facthty Non-
specific provisions are determined uwtihsing an
expected loss model based on apphcable credit
ratings and associated histonical  defauit
probabilites, loss seventy and raling migrations,
and reflecting the current macroeconomic, pohitical
and business environment and other pertinent
indicators  Loans are written off only after all
reasonable restructuring and collection activities
have taken place and the possibility of further

recovery 1s considered to be remote
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The gross and net book values of past due
loans amounted to US$532 7 mullion and US$26 6
muilion respectively The provisioming coverage for
past due loans was therefore 95 0 per cemt Past due
loans are defined as those loans for which erther
principal or interest 1s over 90 days past due Under
IAS 39, mnterest on unpaired loans should be
recognised in inconie based on the net book value
of the loan and the interest rate that was used to
discount the future cash flows for the purpose of
measuring the recoverable amount However, in
accordance with guidelines 1ssued by the Bank’s
regulator, the BMA, iterest on past due loans 1s
only 10 be recogmsed n income on a cash basis In
view of the Group’s high provisiomng coverage for
mmparred loans, the difference between the two
bases of accountng 1s not matenal An ageing
analysis of past due loans 1s set out in note 7{(c) to
the consolidated financial statements US$464 9
mallion or 87 3 per cent of gross past due loans were
overdue by more than five years and are therefore
listorical in nature These are all fully provided
against There were no new past due loans in 2004
and only US$33 9 million of loans had become past
due over the preceding two years The gross volume
of past due loans also continued to be substantially

less than total provisions Total provisions for loan

Liquid assets ratio (%)
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F1.0% 751% 77.9% 76.7% 70.8%

losses exceeded the gross volume of past due loans
by US$189 1 million This means that rather than
earmngs being impaired by the funding cost of the
net book value of past due loans, there 15 an
earnings enhancement Past due loans at their net
book value of US$26 6 million represented just 0 5
per cent of net loans Past due loans at therr net
book value also represented only 17 per cent of

sharcholders’ equity

OTHER ASSET CATEGORIES

Cash and other liquid assets, which amounted to
US%$144 6 mullion at the 2004 year end, are
analysed m note 3 to the consohdated financial
statements In addition to cash and balances with
banks, other liquid assets included certificates of
deposit and Treasury bills held for balance sheet
management purposes

Placements with banks totalled US$3,286 5
million at the 2004 year end and were well
diversified by geography as illustrated n note 22 to
the consolidated financal statements Interbank
placements were largely with GCC and European
bank counterparties, representing the Group’s two
principal operating locations Placements with
banks represented 17 2 per cent of total assets at the
2004 year end contributing to a very strong Liqmd
Assets Ratio of 70 8 per cent

Trading securities at US$1,6124 milhion
largely comprised listed debt secunties amounting
to US$974 0 mulhion Trading securities also
included US$247 1 million of managed funds The
funds, which are managed by international
mstitutions with acknowledged expertise in thewr
field, provide diversified exposure to foreign
exchange, hedge funds, and equity and intemational
debt markets

4 Page 24




Risk asset and commitment exposure

Us$ millions %

GCC 8,146 3 ag4
Orher Mddle East & North Afnco 5883 28

l North Americo 54057 255
Europe 46,061 3 285
Asia 87535 41

E 4 Lohn Amenca 1510 07
Total 21,2281 1000

RISK ASSET AND COMMITMENT EXPOSURE

Risk asset and commitment exposure at 31 St December
2004 amounted to US$21,228 1 milhon Rusk assets
and commitments comprise all assets included m the
balance sheet (with the exception of fixed and other
assets) and credit-related contmgent items As alluded
1o earlier, an analysis of nisk asset and commitment
exposure by category and geography 1s contamed 1
note 22 to the consolidated financial statements An
analysis of denvative and foreign exchange products 1s
set out m note 25 while a further analysis of credit-
related contingent items together with therr nisk-

weighted equivalents 1s contamed m note 26

FUNDING

Bank and customer deposits at 315! December 2004
totalled US$10,814 5 million Customer deposits
amounted to US$6,068 3 million at the 2004 year
end being US$1,158 1 mullion higher than at the
previous year end Customer depostts represented
56 1 per cent of total deposits compared to 47 5 per
cent at the end of 2003 A US$683 7 milhon decrease
in bank deposits compared to the 2003 year end

reflected a redvced requirement for interbank

funding as a result of an mcrease n customer
depostis and tenm financing duning the year Funding
was also enhanced by an increase m secunities sold
under agreements to repurchase (repos) Repos
increased by US$812 3 mullion during the year to
US$3,818 8 mullion at 315t December 2004 The
substantial volume of mvestment grade rated AFS
securities faciltated the Group's ability to fund
through this mechamism Repos represent a more
stable and cost effective source of fundmng, thereby
enhancing both lLiquudity management and
profitability  As 1s evident from note 33 to the
consohdated financial statements, total deposits
averaged US$10,755 4 million during 2004 Total
deposits at the year end were therefore representative
of the level of deposits mamntained throughout the
year As illustrated mn note 11 to the consolidated
financial statements, 64 5 per cent or two thirds of
total deposits were from the GCC GIB 1s a net placer
of funds m the international mterbank market Term
financing at 315! December 2004 totalled US$1,678 3
million An addiional US$177 0 mullion of term
financing was taised during the year as part of an
ongoimg programme to enhance the Group's funding
profile Further commentary on hquidity and funding
15 provided un the Risk Management Review

Deposits - geographical profile

Us$ millions %
GCC couniries 69702 o645
Qther counines 38443 355
Total 10,8145 1000
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GIB confirmed its status within Lurope as a leading manager of mezzanine

asset-backed security products through the issue of a Sterling denominated

£200 million collaieralised debt obligation,




THE GIB GROUP MAINTAINS A PRUDENT
AND DISCIPLINED APPROACH TO RISK TAKING
by upholding a comprehensive set of nsk
management policies, processes and limits,
employing professionally qualified people with the
appropriate skills, investing 1n teehnology and
training, and actively promoting a culture of sound
nsh management at all levels A hey tenet of this
culture 15 the clear segregauon of duties and
reporting hnes between personnel transacting
business and personnel processing that business The
Group’s risk management 1s underpinned by 1ls
ability to 1dentify, measure, aggregate and manage
the different types of nisks 1t faces

The Board of Drrectors has <reated from
among 1ts members a Board Risk Policy Committes
to review the Group’s risk takmg activities and report
to the Board 1n this regard The Board sets the overall
risk parameters and tolerances within which the
Group conducts 1ts activities The Board penodically
reviews the Group's overall nisk profile and
sigmificant risk exposures as well as the Group’s
major nisk policies, processes and controls

The Management Commutiee, chaired by the
CEQ, has the primary responsibility for sanctioning
risk taking polictes and activities within the
tolerances defined by the Board The Group Risk
Committee assists the Management Committee to
perform its nsh related functions The Group Risk
Commuttee, comprising the bank’s most semor nisk
professionals, provides a forum for the review and
approval of new products, risk measurement
methodologies and risk control processes The

Commuittee also reviews all nsk policies and limiis

that require approval by the Management Commutiec

From a control perspective, the process of
nsk management s facilitated through a set of
independent functions, which report directly o
senior management These functions include Risk
Management, Credit Risk Control, Market Risk
Control, Financial Control and Internal Audit
This multi-faceted approach aids the effective
management of risk by 1dentifying, measunng and
monttoring risks from a variety of perspeciives
Risks associated with off-balance sheet derivative
mstruments are managed within the overall nisk
management framework

The major nsks associated with the Group’s
business are credit, market, iquidity and operational
risks These risks and the related nsk management
processes are commented on 1 note 21 to the
consohdated financial statements and are discussed

in detaul 1n the following sections

CREDIT RISK

Credit nisk 15 the nsk that a customer, counterparty or
an issuer of secunties or other financial instruments
fmls to perform under 1ts contractual payment
obligations thus causing the Group to suffer a loss in
terms of cash flow or market value Credit risk 1s the
predommant nsk type faced by the Group in its
banking, mmvestment and treasury activities both on
and off balance sheet. Where appropriate the Group
seeks (o mimimise its credit exposure using a variety of
techmques mcluding but not lumited to the following
= enienng netung agreements with counterparties
that permt offsetting of receivables and payables

« obtatning collateral aganst the Group’s exposure
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RISK MANAGEMENT REVIEW continwed

+ seeking third party guarantees of the
counterparty’s obligations
- imposing restrictions and covenants on
borrowers

Credit nsk 15 actively managed and
nigorously monitored in accordance with well-
defined credit policies and procedures Prior to the
approval of a credit proposal, a detailed credut risk
assessment is carmied out which includes an analysis
of the obligor’s financial condition, market position,
business enviconment and quality of management
The nisk assessment generates an intemal credit risk
rating for each exposure, which affects the credit
approval decision and the terms and conditions of the
transaction For cross border transactions an analysis
of country risk 1s also conducted The Group bases
1ts credit decision for an individual counterparty on
the aggregate Group evposure to that counterparty
and all 1us related entities Groupwide credit lumit
setting and approval authorisation requirements are
conducted within Board approved guidelines, and
the measurement, monitoring and control of credit
exposures are donc on a Groupwide basis in a
consistent manner

Overall exposures are evaluated to ensurc
broad diversification of credit nsk Potenual
concentraion nisks by product, industry, smgle
obligor, credit risk rating and geography are regularly
assessed with a2 view to 1mproving overall portfolio
diversification Established hmuts and actual levels of
exposure are regularly reviened by the Chief Credut
Officer and other members of senior management In
general, all credit decisions are reviewed at least once
a year Credu policies and procedures are designed to
wdenufy, at an early stage, exposures which require

more detailed monitering and review

Credit risk rating profile
as at 31% Decembar 2004

US$ millions %
AAA/Aaa 27923 132
AA/Ao 40319 190
AfA 5,539 5 261
BBB/Baa 5,869 0 276
BB/Ba 2,144 3 101
B/B 4694 4 33
Below B/B 1567 07
Total 21,2281 1000

The crecht rnisk associated with foreign
enchange and derivative mstruments 1s assessed n a
manner similar to that associated with on-balance
sheet activities The Group unlises derivauve
transactions for proprietary trading, to facilitate
customer transactions and for the management of
interest and foreign exchange nisks associated with
the Group’s longer-term lending, borrowing and
mvestment activities Unlike on-balance sheet
products, where the principal amount and interest
generally represent the manumum credit expasure,
the notional amount relating to a foreign exchange or
derivative transaction typically exceeds the credit
exposure by a substantial margin The measure of
credit exposure for foreign exchange and denvative
instruments 15 therefore more appropnalely
considered to be the replacement cost at current
market rates plus an add-on amount commensurate
with the position’s size, volatility and remamming hife

Denvative contracts may also carry legal nsk
such as not having been authorised, appropnate or

enforceable for a counterparty and documentation
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not being properly executed The Group seeks to
mintmuse these nsks by the use of standard contract
agreements and by obtaining the opinion of legal
counsel regarding enforccabihity of agreements and
the authonty of a counterparty to transact

The current gross posttive market values or
credit risk amounts of foreign exchange and
denivative transactions are set out in note 25 to the
consohidated financial statements The total credit
nsk amount n respect of all such transactions
outstanding at the 2004 vyear end amounted to
US$62 6 million before taking account of the nisk-
reducing benefits of any collateral held or legally
enforceable netting agreements The note highlights
that 74 0 per cent of the total credit nisk was
concentrated on major OECD-based banks and was
predominantly shori-term n nature with 63 4 per
cent of notwnal amounts of the transactions
outstanding at the end of 2004 contracted to mature
within one year Transactions maturing beyond one
year represented either hedging transactions entered
mte for asset and habihity management purposes or

fully offset customer transactions

MARKET RISK

Market risk 1s the risk of loss of value of a financial
mstrument or a portfolio of financial instruments as
a result of changes 1 market prices and rates Market
risk anises from the Group’s trading, asset and
Liability management and ivestment activities A
description of the categones of market nisk faced by
the Group 1s set out below
* interest rate nsk results from exposure to changes
in the level, slope, curvature and volatility of
mmterest rates and credit spreads The credn

spread nisk 1s the nisk that the interest yield for a
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securtty will inerease, with a reduction n the
security price, relative to benchmark yields as a
result of the general market movements for that
rating and class of secunty Interest rate nsk 18
the principal type of market risk faced by the
Group and anses from the Group’s investment
activities 1n debt securities, asset and liability
management and the trading of debt and off-
batance sheet dervative mmstruments
« foreign exchange nsk results from exposure to
changes 1n the price and volatihty of currency
spot and forward rates For the Group, the
principal foreign exchange rish arises from 1ts
investments m externally managed currency
funds and from s foreign exchange forward and
denvatives trading activities
+ cquity nsk anses from exposures to changes i
the price and volatlity of individual equities or
equity ndices The Group’s equity nsk
principally anses from s trading activities in US
and European equities, equity denvatives and
convertibles
« commodity risk results from cposurc to changes
in the price and volatihity of commodities The
Group’s commodity nisk anses entirely from 1ts
denvative trading activities
The Group secks to manage the market risks
it faces through diversification of exposures across
dissimilar markets and establishment of hedges in
related securitics or off balance sheet denvative
instruments To manage the Group's exposures n
addition to the exercise of business judgment
and management experience, the Group utilises
limit structures including those relating to
positions, portfolios, maturities and maximum

allowable losses




RISK MANAGEMENT REVIEW continued

A key element in the Group’s market nsk
management framework 15 the estmation of potential
future losses that may anse from adverse market
movements The Group utilises Value-at-Rusk (VaR ) to
estimate such losses The VaR 15 derived from
quantitative models that use statistical and simulation
methods that take account of all market rates and prices
that may cause a change in a posttion’s value These
include nterest rates, foreign exchange rates and
equity prices, ther respective volablitics and the
correlations between these vanables The Group’s VaR
18 calculated on a vanance/co-vanance basis using
exponentially weighted one-year histoncal daily
movements in market rates and prices, giving greater
mmportance to the more recent cbservations
estmating potenual future losses The VaR takes
account of potential diversification benefits of different
posttions both within and across different portfolios
Consistent with general market practice, VaR 1s
computed for all financial instruments for which there

are rcadily available daily prices or a suntable proxy

vaR 1s viewed as an effective nsk
management tool and a valuable addition to the non-
statishically based limat structure 1t permits a
consistent and umform measurc of market nisk across
all applicable products and activities Exposures are
monttored against a range of limits both by risk
category and portfolio and are regularly reported to
and reviewed by semior management and the Board
of Directors

For internal nsk management purposes, the
Group measures losses that are anticipated Lo occur
within a 95 per cent confidence level This implies
that there 15 on average a 5 per centora 1 mn 20
chance of a loss exceeding the VaR owver the
prescribed time honzon or holding period The
Group measures VaR utilising a one month assumed
holding period for both trading and available-for-
sale posiions

The graph below sets out the total Value-at-
Rask for all the Group’s trading activities at the close
of each busmness day throughout the year The

Trading Valve-at-Risk daily development
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figuns are calculated using the regulatory VaR basis
at 2 1 per cent nisk level (2 33 standard deviations)
and at the ten-day honzon using one-year unweighted
historical dmly movements 1 market rates and prices
On this basis, total diversified VaR over the year
averaged US$6 4 million and vaned within the range
of USS5 1 mullion to US$10 1 million with a 2004
yearend value of US$7 1 million

The Group conducts daily VaR back testing
both for regulatory compliance with the Basel
Commuittee on Banhing Supervision market nisk
caputal rutes and for internal evaluation of VaR
against trading profits and losses During 2004, there
was one occasion on which a daily trading loss
exceeded the trading VaR at the close of business on
the previous business day The Basel Committec’s
guidelines on back testing permit a maximum of five
excesses beyond which the multiplication factor
determined by the regulator may be increased

An mnherent limitation of VaR 1s that past

market movements may not provide an accurate

predicuion of future market losses Historic analyses
of market movements have shown that extreme
market movements (¢ g beyond the 99 per cent
confidence level) occur more frequentty than VaR
models predict Stress tests are designed to estimate
the potential economic losses n such abnormal
markets Therefore, stress testing combined with
VaR provides a more comprchensive pcture of
marhet nsk The Group regularly performs stress
tests that are constructed around changes in markel
rates and prices that result from pre-specified
market scenarios, mcluding both istonical and
hypothetical market events Historical scenarios
mnciude the 1994 bond market sell-off, the 1995
Mexican Peso crisis, the 1998 Russian crisis and the
2001 September 11 market disruption Stress testing
18 performed for all material trading and available-
for-sale portfolios

A major objective of asset and labilny
management is the maxumisatien of net interest

income through the proactive management of the

Histogram of daily trading profits & losses
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RISK MANAGEMENT REVIEW continued

asset and labihty repricing profile based on
anticipated movements in interest rates  VaR-based
hmits are utthsed to control fluctuations m nierest
earnings resutting from changes in interest rates The
asset and hability repricing profile and details of the
effective miterest rates prevailing at the year end on
the vanous asset and habihity categones are set out in
note 24 to the consolidated financial statements The
repricing profiles of individual asset and hability
categories incorporate the effect of interest rale
swaps used to modify the interest rale charactenistics
of specific transactions As tllustrated in note 24, the
substantial magority of assets and labilities reprice
within one year The volume of interest-bearing
assets repricing over one year amounted to only
US$545 4 milhon or 2 9 per cent of total assets This
manly represented investments in fixed rate
government secunities with a maumum original
maturity of two years At 315! December 2004 the
modified duration of these fixed rate government

securitics was 1 2

LIQUIDITY RISK AND FUNDING

Liqudity nisk 1s the nisk of the Group’s financial

obligations not bemng met fully and punctually as

they fall due The nsk anses from the timing

differences between the maturity profiles of the

Group’s assets and Liabilities [t includes the nsk of

losses ansing from the following

« forced sale of assets at below nomal market
prices

+ raising of deposits or borrowimng funds at
€XcessIve rates

= mvestment of surplus funds ai below market
rates

The Group maintains a strong lhquidity

position by managimg the hqudity structure of
assets, liabhities and commitments to ensure the
Group has access to adequate funds to meet 11
obligations even under adverse market conditions
In normal market conditions the Group
endeavours to ensure that there are sufficient
funds not only to meet current oblhigations but also
to provide the flexibihity to caputalise on market
opportunities

The Group applies a prudent muxture of
hquidity controls that provide security of access to
funds without undue exposure to increased costs
from the hiquidation of assels or the aggressive
bidding for deposits The liquidity controls ensure
that over the short term, by major currency, the
projected profile of future cash flows from maturing
assets 15 adequately matched to the matunty of
habilines Liquidity 18 managed and momitored on a
daily basis at the parent company and subsidary
levels, enabling senior management to identify
changes and to react accordingly to fluctuations n
market conditions

The Group mamntams strong balance sheet
hiquidity ratios and regularly momtors 11s depositers
1o ensure 1t retains a dwversified deposit base i terms
of name concentration, range of counterparties and
maturities The Group maintains a stock of liqind and
marketable secunties that can be readily sold or
repoed lhe funding base 1s enhanced through term
financing of US$1,828 3 million as at 315! December
2004, an mcrease of US$177 0 mullion over the year
Deposits from customers provide a further stable
source of funding Contingency plans also exist that
can be quickly implemented to mamtain liquadity 1n
crisis  situations without hindering  long-term

business objectives
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The asset and habibty matunity profile by
individual asset and habihity category based on
contractual repayment arrangements 1s set out
note 23 to the consolidated financial statements At
315t December 2004, 453 per cent of total assets
were contracied to mature within onc year A
sigmficant portion of assets with longe-term
matunties comprised readily realisable securities
With regard to deposits, retention records
demonstrate that there 15 considerable divergence
between their contractual and effective matunities By
way of example, average deposits tn 2004 from those
counterparties with deposits over US$10 mulhion at
315t December 2004 amounted to USS$9,508 3
milhorn These depesits of a core nature together with
shareholders” equity and term financing were three
times the least hiquid asset category, loans and
advances The more stable deposits from the GCC
region also comforiably exceed the loan portfolio At
315 December 2004 deposits from GCC country
governments and central banks and other nstitutions
headquartered in the GCC states amounted to
US$6,970 2 mullion GCC deposus o total loans
cover was therefore 13 tmes Total deposis and
term financing coverage to loans was 2 4 tumes while
the liquid assets ratio, which expresses the sum totat
of bank balances, money market nstruments,
placements with banks and securnties as a percentage

of total assets, was a high 70 8 per cent

OPERATIONAL RiSK

Operational nisk 15 the nisk of loss ansing from
madequate or fmled mternal processes, people and
systems or from extemnal events It 1s an mherent nsk
faced by all businesses and covers a farge number of

vulnerabiities mcluding business mterruption and
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systems failures, internal and external fraud,
employment practices and workplace safety, customer
and business pracuices, transaction execution and
process management, and damage to physical assets

Whilst operational nsk cannot be eliminated
n 1ts entirety, the Group endeavours to mimimmise it
by ensurmng that a strong control infrastructure 15 in
place throughout the organisation The various
procedures and processes uséd to manage
operational nsk include effective staft traiming,
appropriate controls to safcguard assets and records,
regular reconciliation of accounts and transactions,
close momitoring of risk limits, segregation of duties,
ang financial management and reporting In addition,
other control strategies, cluding business
continuity planming and insurance, are in place to
complement the procedures, as applicable

A nisk assessment has been compiled which
wdenufies the operational nsks mherent in the
Group’s activihes, processes and systems, and the
controls required to mitigate these nsks are
constantly under review and updated as necessary A
databasc of measurable operational losses Is
maintained, together with a record of key nsh
indicators, which can provide an early warning of
possible  operational rnisk  The process of
management reporting 1s currently under review

The Group ensures that i1ts processes are n
hne with best practice and that it takes account of
lessons learnt from published failures within the
global financial services industry In addition, the
Group has a strong Internal Audit function, which
undertakes periodic, independent appraisals of the
actual functioming of the controls m all the 1dentified
risk areas and reports on therwr findings to the Audit

Commuttee of the Board of Directors




G was the mandated Tead arranger in the USSH billion Qatar Gias 11 {inancing. one of

the largest project finance transactions undertaken in the Middle East.




FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Centents

Report of the Anditersto the Shareholders

Censolidated Balance Eheet

Consolidated Statement of Income

Censalidated Statement of Cash Flown

Censolidated Statement of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity

Notests the Consalidated Financial $tatements

[nl‘[)l"]()l'ﬂ(][)ll llllfl l'['ulill'nitllill
.\('('()ll"l]nL:ll‘]lll"C\

Cash und other hiquid assers
Placementswith banks

Trading sceurioes

\\.nlzll)l(‘ ion \.||('\(‘(‘|II‘IH(‘\
[odnsand advances

El\l'(l FERTE £

Orthor asets

Post netireme ntbe nefos

Die ponity

‘\'! Curties '\Ull] 11 |1(.|.( Foalgiae o me ntstry e PIll(']].l'vI'
(hlr leababines

[l'l'l” |||h|:1l'|||i_{

.\!Ll}l()l(lll]d[( ‘] term l(ls”]‘

Share capital

Reserves

Dhivadeonds

Othor imeome

}’“L"Il]( lIlnlllI]l(’llellllJl]

Rask ihanage ment

(:(‘ogl'uphu';d disterthution ot risk assers
.\|.|lu1'|nv~niAnﬂ\.lnrl[mE)llllu‘s
Iitere st rate vish

Dernatne and foragn cvchange mstruments
Crednt rddared frnanenalhimsoruments

Contmgent liabiliaes

Capataladequacs

l'ltlut‘l.n') activitues

Fairvalue of financial rastrumenes
Larnings pershare

Pranepal subadiaries

MAverage vonsalulaed balaneeshaoa

]'.n'('nl o I'T'I.]JII ns

- "o 35 P




—_————— e ————— - — J— JE— ———— ———— =

REPORT OF THE AUDITORS TO THE SHHAREHOLDE I{Sjl

- - o I R

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Gulf International Bank B S C (the Bank) and 1ts subsidianes
(the Group) as at, and for the year ended, 315U December 2004 as set out on pages 37 to 73

Respective responsibilities of Directors and Auditors
These financial statements are the responsibihity of the Board of Directors of the Bank Our responsibility 13 to express an
opinion on these financial statements based on our audit

Basis of opimion

We conducted our audit 1n accordance with International Standards en Auditing Those standards require that we plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material
misstatement An audit mcludes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclesures in the
consolidated financial statements An audst also includes assessing the accounting principles used and sigmficant esttmates
made by management, as well as evaluating the averall financial statement presentation We believe that our audit provides
a reasonable basis for our opinion

Opinion

In our opmion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, i all material respects, the financial position of the
Group as at 315t December 2004, the results of its operations, changes in 1s shareholders® equity and its cash flows for the
year then ended, 1n accordance with International Financial Reporung Standards

Other regulatory matters

In addition, in our opinton, the Group has maimaned proper accounting records and the consolidated financial statements
are n agreement therewith We have reviewed the accompanying Chaiman’s Statement and confirm that the nformation
contained therein 1s consistent with the consolidated financial statements To the best of our knowledge and belief, no
viplations of the Bahrain Commercial Compantes Law 2001 or the Bahrain Monetary Agency Law, 1973 (as amended) or
the terms of the Bank’s Licence, or its Agreement of Establishment, ot its Articles of Asseciation have occurred dunng the
year that might have had a matertal adverse effect on the business of the Bank or on 1ts financial position Sausfactory
explanations and information have been provided to us by management 1n response to all our requests

et

KPMG
Public Accountants

Manama, Kingdom of Bahrain
9th rebruary 2005
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[ CONSOLIDATED BALANC

Assets

Cash and other hiquid assets
Placements with banks
Tradhing securihes
Available-for-sale secunties
Loans and advances

Fixed assets

Other assets

Total assets

Uabilihes

Deposits from banks

Deposits from customers

Securities sold under agreements to repurchase
Securihes sold but not yet purchased

Cther liabilies

Term hnancing

Subordinated term loans

Total habdities

Shareholders’ equity

Share caputal

Share premium

Reserves

Retained earnings

Shareholders’ equity

Total habilihes & shareholders’ equity

Note

V00N bW

"
1
12

13

14
15

16

17

At311204 At 311203
uUsS millions US$ millions
1446 2150
3,286 5 3,0231
16124 1,583 6
8,469 1 8,4518
52863 37596
178 188

270 1 250 5
19,086 8 17,302 4
4746 2 5,429 %9
6,068 3 49102
38188 3,006 5
5649 2712
5256 644 5
1,678 3 1,501 3
1500 1500
17,5521 1592136
1,000 0 1,0000

76 76

3021 226 8
w0 1544
1,534 7 1,388 8
19,086 8 17,302 4

The consolidated financial statements were opproved by the Board of Directors on 9th Febrary 2005 and signed on therr

behalf by -

Ebralum Bin Khalifa Al Khalfa
Chawrman

The nates on pages 41 fo 73 form part of these consalidated hnancial staternents

Dr Kholed M Al-Fayez
Chief Executive Officer
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CONSOLIDATED §

T OF INCOME

Interest revenue

Interest on secunihies

Interest and fees on leans

Interest on placements and other liquid assets

Interest expense

Net interest income

Provisions for secunhes

Provisions for loans and advances
Net interest income after provisions

Other income
Net nterest and other income

Operating expenses
Staff

Premises

Other

Net income before tax

Taxahon [credit) / charge on overseas achvihes
Net income affer tax

Earmngs per share

MNote

19

31

The notes on pages 41 to 73 form part of these consoldated financial statements
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Year ended Year ended
311204 311203
Ussmillions _____ US$ millions
2551 2713

1220 97 2
. BO5S_ 608
457.6 429 3

- 45 2620
1731 167 3

52 508
186 44
1493 1121

... Mas_ 1203
. 2728 2324
885 831

69 100
.20 .30
1244 L1260

148 4 106 3
e 02
150 2 106 1

Uss0 15 Usso 11




F,‘()NS()I,II):\'I'IZI) STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Year ended Year ended
311204 311203
UsS$ millions US$ millions
Operahing achvities
Net income 150 2 061
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash inflow / outlow
from operating activihes
Provisions for securities 52 508
Provisions for loans and advances 186 A4
Proftt on avalable-for-scle securihies (232} {15 6)
Amorhsation of available-for-sale securihes 11 63
Depreciation of fixed assets 48 64
{Increase) / decrease in accrued interest recevable (28 0} 26 4
Increase / (decrease) in accrued interest payable 176 {25 1)
[Increasa) / decrease in other net assets (97 2) 1315
Net increase in trading secunihes (28 8) (382 2}
Net cash inflow / {outflow) from operahing achivities 203 {21 0)
Investing achivities
Net {increase) / decrease in placements with banks {263 4) 09
Net increase in loans and advances {1,545 3} {508 2}
Purchase of avallable-for-sale secunties {1,421 5) (2,724 8)
Sale and matunty of ovailable-for-sale securihes 14390 26502
Purchase of fixed assets {3 8) _{44)
Net cash outflow fram inveshng activities 1,795 0} (586 5)
Financing octivihes
Net decrease in deposits from banks {683 7) (321
Nel increase / {decrease) in deposits from customers 1,1581 {169 3}
Net increase in securihes sold under agreements to repurchase 8123 4298
Nel increase in securihes sold but not yet purchased 2937 217 9
Increase in term financing 177 0 6213
Dividends paid (53 1) {42 7)
Net cash inflow from financing achvihes 1,704 3 7449
{Decrease) / increase in cash and cash equivalents {70.4} 67 4
Cash and cash equivalents ot 1%t Sanuary 2150 147 6
Cash and cash equivalents at 315 December 144 & 2150

The notes on pages 41 to 73 form part of these consohdated financial statements
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[ CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN SHAREHROLDERS® EQUITY

At 315t December 2002
Arising i the year -
- Available-for-sale securihes
net fair value gains
- Cash flow hedges
net fair value gains
Transfers in the year -
- Transfers fo net income
Net gains recogmised directly in equity
Dwidend for 2002
Net income for the year
Transfers from retained earnings
At 315" December 2003
Arising n the yecr -
- Avalable-for-sale securities
net fair value gains
- Cash flow hedges
net fair value losses
Transfers in the year -
- Transfers 1o net income
Net gains recognised directly in equrty
Divdend for 2003
Net income for the year
Transters from relained earnings
At 315! December 2004

Tha notes on peges 41 o 73 form part of these c
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Share Share Reserves Retained Total
capttal premum eamings
Uss mithons  US$ millions  USS millions  US$ millions UsS millions
1,0000 76 371 83.5 1,128.2
1714 171 4
08 08
- [37] 287 250
- 148 5 287 197 2
- - (427) {42 7)
- - 1061 1061
- _ - 212 {21 2) -
1,000.0 76 226.8 1544 1,388 8
- - 569 - 569
- - 01) - e
{11 5) 35 (80)
453 35 48 8
- - {531} {531)
- - 1502 1502
- - 300 (300) -
1,000 0 76 3021 2250 1,5347
Iidated hnancial st




For the year ended 315t December 2004

1. INCORPORATION AND REGISTRATION

The parent company of the Group {the Group), Gulf International Bank B S C [the Bank), 15 @ Bahram: Shareholding Company
incorporated tn the Kingdom of Bahratn by Amin Decree Law No 30 dated 24'h November 1975 and 1s registered as an offshere
banking unit with the Bohrain Monelary Agency The registered office of the Bank s located ot Al-Dewali Building, 3 Palace
Avenue, Manama, Kingdom of Bahrain

The Group 15 principally engaged in the provision of whalesale commercial and investment banking services The Group operates
through subsidiaries, branch offices and representative offices located n six countries worldwide The total number of staff
employed by the Group at the end of the hnanaial year was 559

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The principol accounhing policies adopted in the preparchon of the consolidated financial stalements are set out below -

2 1 Basis of presentahon
The consolidated finaneial statements have been prepared in aecordance with Internationa! Financial Reporting Standards
The consolidated financial siatements have been prepared under the historical cost convention as modified by the
revaluation of trading securities, available-for-sole securities and dervative financial instruments as explained in more detal
in the following accounting policies Recogrised assets and liabilihes that are hedged by denvative financial instruments are
also stated ot fair value in respect of the risk that 15 being hedged The accounting policies have been consistently applied
by the Bank and iis subsidiaries and are consistent with those of the previous year

2.2 Consalidahion principles
The consohdated hnancial stalements include the accounts of Gulf Infernational Bank B 'S C and tts subsidiaries Subsidiary
undertakings are companies and other entities, including special purpose enhities, in which the Bank holds, directly or
indirectly, more than one half of the voting rights, or otherwise has the power lo exercise effective control over the hnancial
and operahing policies of the entity All intercompany balances and transachens, including vnrealised gains and losses on
transachons between Group companies, have been elmmated

2 3 Trade and setlement date accounhng
All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets held for trading are recognised on the trade date, 1 e the date on
which the Group commits to purchase or sell the financial asset All regular woy purchases and sales of other hnancial assets
are recognised on the setlement date, 1 e the date on which the asset 1s delivered to or recewved from the counterparty
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial ossets that require dehvery within the ime frame
generally established by regulahon or convention in the markel place

2 4 Foreign currencies
The reporting currency of the Group 1s the US Dollar The share capitals of the Bank and its principal subsidianes are also
denominated in US Dollars Transachons in foreign currencies are converted to US Dollars at the rate of exchange prevailing
at the date of the transachon Monefary assets and labilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into US
Dollars ot market rates of exchange prevailing on the balance sheet date Redlised and unreahised foreign exchange prokhts
and losses are induded in other income
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued

For the year ended 31% December 2004

2 ACCOUNTING POUCIES [conhnued)

2.5 Offsethng
Financial assets and liabilities are only offset and the net amount reported in the consolidated balance sheet when there 1s
a legally enforceable right to set off the recogmised ameunts and there 15 an ntenticn to settle on o net basis, or to realise
the asset and setile the liability simultaneously

2.6 Denvative financal instruments
Denvative financial instruments are contracts, the value of which 1s denved from one or more underlying finoncial inuments
or indices, and include futures, forwards, swaps and options in the interest rate, foreign exchange and equity markets

Derwvahve finanaic! instruments are inthally recogrised in the consolidated balance sheet at cost, including transachon costs,
and subsequently remeasured to farr value Fair values are denived from prevarling market prices, discounted cash flow
models or ophion pricing models as appropriate In the consolidated balance sheet, dervative hnancial instruments with
posthve fair values {unrealised gains) are included in other assets and derivative financial instruments with negative fair
volves [unreahsed losses) are included in other liabilities

The changes in the Fair values of denvative finanaial instruments entered inlo for trading purposes or to hedge other trading
posihons are included n other income 1n the consolidoted statement of income

The recognhion of changes in the foir values of dervative financial instruments entered into for hedging purposes 1s
dstermined by the nature of the hedging relationship  For the purposes of hedge accounting, dervative finanaial instruments
are designated os o hedge of erther (1) the fair value of o recognised asset or liabiiity {fair value hedge), or (1) the future
cash flows alinbutable to a recognised asset or liability or a firm commitment {cash flow hedge)

The Group’s critenia for a dervative hnancial instrument to be accounted for as a hedge include -

- the hedging instrument, the related hedged item, the nature of the risk being hedged, and the risk manogement obyective

and strategy must be formally documented at the inception of the hedge,

it must be dearly demonsirated that the hedge 1s expected to be highly effective in offsetting the changes 11 farr values or

cash flows atinbutable to the hedged risk in the hedged rem,

- the effectveness of the hedge must be capable of being reliably meosured, and

- the hedge must be assessed on an ongoing basis and determined fo have octually been highly effective throughout the
financiol reporting peniod

Changes in the fair values of dervative finaneial instruments that are designated, and qudlify, as foir value hedges and that
prove fo be highly effective 1n relahon to the hedged risk, are included in other income in the consolidated statement of
income together with the corresponding change n the fair value of the hedged asset or liability that 1s attributable to the
nisk thot 15 being hedged Unrealised gains and losses ansing on hedged assets or labilihes which are otirbutable to the
hedged risk are adjusted against the carrying amoeunts of the hedged assets or liabihties in the consolidated bolance sheet
If the hedge no longer meets the cntena for hedge accounhing, any adjustment to the carnying amount of o hedged interest-
bearing finanaia! instrument 1s amorhsed to income over the rematning pened to matunity
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2 6 Denvative financial instruments [continued)
Changes in the fair volues of dervative financial instruments that are designated, end qualify, as cash low hedges and that
prove lo be highly effective in relation to the hedged risk, are recogmised in o seporate component of shareholders’ equity
Unreahsed gains or losses recognised in shareholder's equity are transferred to the consolidated statement of income at the
same hime that the income or expense of the corresponding hedged stem 1s recogmised in the income statement and are
included n the same income or expense category as the hedged tem Unreahsed gains or losses on any ineffechve portion
of cash flow hedging transachons are recogmsed 1n other income 1n the consohdated statement of income

The inferest component of denvahves that are designated, and qualify, as fair value or cash flow hedges 1s recognised in
wnlerest iIncome or inferesl expense over the life of the dervative instrument

Ceriain dervative transachions, while providing effective economic hedges within the Group's risk monagement posiions,
do not qualify for hedge accounting under the specific rules in IAS 39 Such denvative fransactions are categorised as
derivatives held for trading and related feur value gains and losses induded in other income 1n the consolidated statement
of income

Hedge accounting 1s discontinued when the denvative hedging instrument either expires or 15 sold, terminated or exercised,
or no longer qualifies for hedge accounting

2 7 Interest income and expense
Interest income and interest expense are recognised for dll mteresi-beaning financicl instruments on an accruals basis using
the effective yield method based on the original setlement amount Loan ongination fees are deferred ond recogmised as
an adjustment to the effective yield on the loan Interest income 15 suspended when nferest or principal on a credit facnhry
1s overdue by more than 90 days whereupon all unpaid and accrued inferest 1s reversed from income Interest on non-
accrual faclities 1s mcluded i income only when receved Credit facilittes are restored fo accrual stotus only after ofl
delinquent interest and principal payments have been brought current and future payments are reasonably assured

2 8 Secunihes financing arangements
Securihes purchased under agreements o resell {reverse repurchase agreements) and securihes sold under agreements to
repurchase {repurchase agreements) are treated as collateralised lending and borrowing transactions and are recorded in
the consolidated balance sheet ot the amounts the securihes were mihally acquired or sold Interest earned on reverse
repurchase ogreements and mterest incurred on repurchase agreements are included 1n inferest income and interest expense
respechvely Secunties purchased under agreements Io resell are included in cash and other quid assets

2 9 Securtfies
Trading secunties are securities which are either acquired For the purpose of generating a proht from short term Buctuations
in price or are included in a porifolio i which a pattern of short-term proht toking exists Trading securihies are inmally
recogmsed at cost, including transachon costs, and subsequently remeasured fo fair value based on quoted market prices
Realsed and unrealised gans and losses are included in other income Interest earned on trading secunhes and interest
incurred on securities sold but not yet purchased are included in interest income and inlerest expense respectively
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued

For the year ended 315 December 2004

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conhnued)

29

210

21

Securities (conhnued)

Available-for-sale securies are intended o be held for an mdehnite period of ime and may be sold n response to needs
for liquidity, changes n interest rates or concerns with respect to credit deterioration Available-for-sale securities are
wmially recogrised ot cost, including ransachon costs, and subsequently remeasured to feir value based on quoted market
prices or amounts denved from cash flow models as appropriate Unquoted and illiquid equity mvestments for which forr
values cannot be reliably measured are stated al cost less provision for impairment Unreahised geins and losses arising
from changes in the fair values of availoble-for-sale securies affer the adophon of 1AS 39 on 18 Januery 2001 are
recognised tn a separate revaluahon reserve in shareholders’ equity The cumulative fair value adjustments on availoble-
for-sale securities which are sold or otherwise disposed of, or become impaired, and which had previcusly been
recogrused in shareholder’s equity are transferred 1o fhe consohidaled statement of income

Diidends recerved on trading ond available-for-sale securities are included 1 other incame

Loans and advances

Loans onginoted by the Group by prowiding money directly to the borrower or to a sub-participation agent at the
drawdown date are calegonsed as loans onginated by the Group Originated loans are stated at amortised cost less
prowision for impawrment

Purchased loans, including sub-participations purchased subsequent to the provision of the onginal loan, which are
acquired for the purpose of generating a proft in the short term are calegorised as held-for-trading assets Loans
categonsed as held-for-trading are initially recognised at cost, including transachion costs, and subsequently remeasured
to Fair value based on avalable market prices Reahsed and unrealised gains and losses are included in other income
Inferest earned on trading loans 1s included in interest income Purchosed loans which are infended to be held to maturity
are categonsed as held-to-maturily assets and stated of amorhsed cost less provision for impairment

Loans are wotten off after all restructuning and collechon actvities have taken place and the possibility of further recovery
s considered 1o be remote Subsequent recavenes are included in other income

Provisions for impairment

A provision for impairment 15 established where there 15 objective evidence that the Graup will not collect oll amounts due,
including both principal and interest, n accordance with the contractual terms of the credst facility The provision for
impairment 1s determined based on the difference between the net carrying amount and the recoverable amount of the
hnancial asset The recoverable amount 1s measured as the present value of expected future cash Rows, including amounts
recoverable from guarantees and collateral, discounted based on the interest rate at the inception of the credit facdity o,
for debt nstruments remeasured te fair value, at the curent market rate of interest for a similar hnencial asset

Provisions for impairment are also measured and recognised on a portfolio basis where there 15 objechive evidence that
probable losses are present in groups of similar credit exposures These exposures are collectively evaluated for
impairment with the provisions for expected losses based on the applicable credit ratings and associated historical default
probabilities, loss seventy and raking migrahions, and reflect the macroeconomic, political and business environment and
other pertinent indicaiors

Provisions for impairment are released where a subsequent increase in the recoverable amount 15 related obyectively to
an event occurring cfter the provisian for iImpairment was established
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES jcontinued)

2.12 Cther provistons
Other provisions are recogmised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event,
tt 15 probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required o setile the obligation, and a
rehoble eshmate can be made of the amount of the obligahon

2.13 Fixed assets
tand 15 stated at cost Other hxed assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation Where the carrying amount of
a hixed osset 1s greater than 1ts esimated recoverable amount, the asset 1s written down to 11s recoverable amount

Generally, costs associated with the maintenance of exishng computer software are recognlsed as an expense when
incurred However, expenditure that enhances and extends the benefils of computer software programs beyond their
onginal specihcations and hives 1s recogrised as a capital improvement and capitalised as part of the onginal cost of the

SOH‘WO re

214 Post rehrement benehits
The majonly of the Group's employees are eligible for post retirement benefits under either defined benefit or defined
contribution pension plans which are provided through separate trustee-administered funds or insurance plans The
Group dlso poys contributions to Government defined contribuhion pensron plans in accordance with the legal
requirements In each location

The Group's coninbutions to defined contribution pension plans are charged to iIncome 1n the year to which they relate

The pension costs for defined benehit pension plans are assessed using the projected unit credit method The cost of
providing pensions 1s charged to iIncome so os fo spread the regular cost of pensions over the service lives of the
employees, in accordance with the advice of an independent qualihed actuary who conducts a full valuation of the plan
every three years The pension obligation 1s measured as the present value of the eshmated future cash flows using inferest
rates of government securihes which have terms to maturity approximating the terms of the related habthty Actuanal
gains and losses are recognised in income over the average remaining service lives of employees

2 15 Deferred income taxes
Delerred income taxes are provided, using the liability method, for temporary differences arising between the tax bases
of assets and lichilites and their carrying volues for kinancial reporling purposes Deferred tax assets are recognised only
to the extent that 11 15 probable that fulure taxable profits will be avallable against which the unused tax losses and credits
can be utihised Currently enacted tox rates are used to determine deferred income taxes

2.16 Cash and cash equivalents
For the purposes of the consalidated statement of cash Aows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cosh and other iquid
assets
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATLED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued

For the year ended 315! December 2004

2 ACCOUNTING POUCIES {conhnued}

2 17 Segment reporhng
A segment 15 a distinguishable companent of the Group that 1s engaged in prowiding products or services [business
segment] or in providing products or services within a particular economic environment {geographical segment), which 1s
subject to risks and rewards that are different fram those of other segments Segments whose revenue, result or assets
comprise 10 per cent or more of the total for all segments are reported separately

2 18 Fiduciary activihes
The Group admimnisters and manages assets owned by clients which are not reflected in the consolidated financial
statements Asset management fees are earned for prowiding investment management services and for managing mutucl
fund products Asset odministration fees are earmed for providing custodhal services Fees are recogmised as the services
are provided and are included 1n other income

2 19 Comparahves
Where necessary, comparative hgures have been adjusted to conform with changes in presentahon in the current year

3 CASH AND OTHER LUIQUID ASSETS

31.1204 311203

UsSmilbons ____ US$ millions

Cash and balances with banks 630 1419
Certihicates of deposit 570 384
Treasury bills 133 212
Securihes purchased under agreements to reselt ..o.nas _ 135
144 6 2150

Cerhficates of deposit and Ireasury bills are categorised as assets held-te maturity and are stated at amorhsed cost

4 PLACEMENTS WITH BANKS

Placements with banks are categorised as assets held-to-matunity and are stated at cost

Placements with banks at 315! December 2004 included placements with non-bank knancial inshiuhons amounting to

Us$193 8 milion (2003 US$77 5 millien}
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5, TRADING SECURITIES
311204 311203
US$ millions US$ mithons
Government bonds 3156 149 6
Listed debt securihes 9740 1,680
Unlisted debt securitres 68 398
Monaged funds 2471 159 6
Equities 689 66 6
1,612 4 1,58346

Managed funds represent funds placed for investment with external asset managers The funds provide a diversified exposure
to foreign exchange, equily and international debt markets

6 AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE SECURITIES

a) Classihcahon of available-for-sale secunhes

31204 311203

Us$ millions US$ millions

AAA/SAoa rated debt securihes 1,459 2 1,722 4
Debt securihes of other investment grade 1ssuers 6,2184 59730
Other debt secunthes 186 0 2185
Equihes and equiy funds ___&055 5379
8,469.1 8,451 8

The Group's available-for-sale secunhes predominantly comprise higher quality, investment grade-rated debt securitres At
315! December 2004, 90 7 per cent of avenlable for-sole securities were investment grode-rated (2003 91 0 per cent)

Equihes and equity Funds principally compnised investments of a structured finance nature managed by miernational
investment banks, the underlying investments of which are high quality, investment-grade rated debt securihes

Debt securihes of other investment grade issuers at 313! December 2004 included GCC country government securihes of
US$213 2 milhion (2003 US$1,000 2 million)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued

For the year ended 315 December 2004

6 AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE SECURITIES (contnued}

k) Provisions for impairment

The mavements in the provisions for the impairement of available-for-sale securiies were as fellows -

2004 2003

US$ milliens US$ millions

At 1% January 922 1256
Exchange rale movements 18 35
Amounts utilised (8 5) {87 7)
Charge for the year 52 508
At 318 December 90 7 922

) Unquoted equity investments
Avorlable-for-sale secunties at 315 December 2004 mduded US$54 2 million (2003 US$58 9 million) of unquoted equity
invesiments for which foir values cannot be rehably mecsured These investments are stated of cost less prowsion for
impaimet They principally comprise investments in managed entthies, the underlying investments of which are primanly of
erther a corparate debt or private equily nature, managed by external specialist managers and international investment banks
Thersare no active markets or other appropriate methods from which to derive reliable fair values for these investments

7 LOANS AND ADVANCES

311204 311203

U$$ milhons US$ millions

Loans onginated by the Group 5211.8 4,079 5
Advances to brokers 5914 201 3

Leans purchased by the Group

- held to matunty 1970 1561
held for trading 7.9 44 2
Gross foans and advances 6,008 1 4,481 1

Provisions for imparrment {721.8} {721 5)
Net loans and advances 5,286 3 3,759 6

a) Concentrahons of loans and advances

Net loans and advances at 3151 December 2004 included exposure to GCC country governments of US$183 1 million
(2003 US5299 8 million) and OECD country central governmen! and agency nisk of US$88 3 million
{2003 US$98 2 million)

There were no signihcant concentrations by industnal sector ot either 31 st December 2004 or at 315 December 2003
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7. LOANS AND ADVANCES (continued)
b} Provisions for impairment

The movements in the provisions for the imparment of loans and advances were as follows -

2004 2003
Specfic  Non-specihic Total Specihic  Non-specihic Total
proviston provision provision provision

USS millions  USS milliens USS milkons  US$ millions  US$ milhions  US$ mullions

A1 18 January 5391 1824 7215 5608 1904 7512
Exchange rate and

other movements 10 2 - 102 207 - 207
Amounts uhlised {28 5} - {28 5) {54 8) - {54 8)
{Release) / charge for the year — {1.2) 198 186 124 (B8O 44
At 318 December 5196 202 2 721.8 5391 1824 7215

Total specihic provisions at 315t December 2004 represented 90 2 per cent (2003 89 1 per cent} of loans against which o
specihc provision had been mode Total non-specific provisions at 318 December 2004 represented 3 7 per cent
{2003 4 7 per cenl) of loans which had not been specifically provided against Total provisions at 315t December 2004
exceeded the gross book value of past due loans by US$189 1 million {2003 US$159 1 million)

At 315t December 2004 there was no accrued but uncollected interest on impaired loans included in inferest ncome (2003 nil}

Past due loans

—

[

The gross and net book valve of loans for which either principal or interest was over 90 days past due were as follows -

31.1204 311203
Gross Net book Gross Net book
value value
USS millions US$ millions US$ millions US$ millions
Sovereign 450.1 08 4405 o8
Corporate 656 220 108 ¢ 413
Financial inshitutions 170 3.8 130 o8
5327 266 562 4 429
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCLAL STATEMENTS continued

For the year ended 315 December 2004

7. LOANS AND ADVANCES {continued)

<] Past due loans [continued)

The overdue status of past due loans based on onginal contractual matunities was as Follows -

Within 4 months

7 months to 1 year
210 5 years

Over 5 years

3112.04 311203
Us$ millions US$ millions
- 339

678 736

4649 £549
5327 562 4

At 315! December 2004 uncollected interest-in-suspense on past due loons amounted to US$681 3 million

{2003 U5$522 3 million}

8 FIXED ASSETS

Freehold Buldings  Premises and Total
land equipment
uss$ millions us$ millions USS millions  US$ millions
At 315t December 2004
Cosl 89 27 2 552 Q13
Accumulated depreciation - 27 0 465 735
Net book value 89 02 8.7 178
At 315! December 2003
Net book value 89 05 94 188
9. OTHER ASSETS
311204 311203
_US$ millions US$ milhons
Accrued interest, fees and commissions 1848 1568
Derivative financial instruments 263 355
Qutstanding security settlements 200 122
Deferred items 102 126
Prepaid pension cost 21 56
Other prepayments 3o 30
Other, including accounts recevable 237 24 8
2701 250 5

Dervative financial mstruments represent the posiive fair values of dervative financial instruments entered into for trading
purposes, or designated as fair value or cash flow hedges An analysis of the fair value of denvative financial instruments 15 set

out in Note 25(d}
An analysis of the prepaid pension cost 15 set out in Note 10
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10 POST RETIREMENT BENEFITS

The Group coniributes to defined beneht and defined contribution pension plans which cover substantially all its emplayees

The Bank maintains defined contribution pension plans for the majority of its employees Contributions are based on o
percentage of salary The amounts to be paid as refirement benefits are determined by reference to the amounts of the
contributions and investment eamings therean The fotal cost of coniributions to defined cantribution pension plans for the year

ended 315 December 2004 amounted to US$3 5 million (2003 U5$3 2 mulion)

The Bank’s principal subsidiary, Gulf Inlernational Bank (UK) Linited {GIBUK), maintains a defined beneht pension plan for
subsianhally all its employees The assets of the plan are held independently of the subsidiary’s assets in o seporate trustee
administered fund  The pension costs are charged to income so as to spread the regular cost of the pensions over the service
lives of the employees, in accordance with the advice of an ndependent qualified actuery who conduds a full valuahon of the
plon every three years using the projected umit credit method In the intervening years the calculahon 15 updated based on
informatson receved from the actuary The tatest full actuonial valuahion was carred out at 15t January 2004

The amount recogrised in the consolidated balance sheet 1s analysed os follows -

311204 311203

Us$ millions U5$ millions

Fair value of plan assets 1000 802
Present value of fund obligations 1344 941
(34 4) (139

Unrecogmised actuaral loss 365 195
Net asset in the consohdated balance sheet 21 56

The movements in the net asset recognised in the consalidated balance sheet were as follows -

2004 2003
US$ millions US$ millions

At 13 January 56 99
Net expense included in stalf expenses (6 6) {62)
Coniributions paid 3 32
Exchange differences - 3
At 315! December 21 56
The amounts recogmised in the consclidated statement of Income were as follows -

2004 2003

US$ millions US$ millions

Current service cost 59 51
Interest cost 60 39
Expected return on plan assets [60) {41)
Amorhsation of cctuarial loss 07 13
Totd! included in staff expenses 66 62
The prinaipal acluanial assumphons used for accounting purposes were as follows -

2004 2003
Discount rate 53% 58%
Expected return on plan assets 6 8% 7 0%
Fulure salary increases 4 3% 40%
Future increases fo pensions i payment 28% 27%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued

For the year ended 315! December 2004

11 DEPOSITS
Deposits from customers include depostts from central banks

The geographtcal composition of total deposits was as follows -

311204 311203

USs$ milhions US$ millions

GCC countnes 69702 6,940 3
Other countries 3,844 3 33998
10,8145 10,340 1

GCC deposits comprise deposits from GCC country governments and central banks and other institutions headquartered n
the GCC states

12. SECURITIES SOLD UNDER AGREEMENTS TO REPURCHASE

The Group enters it collateralised borrowing transactions {repurchase agreements} n the ordinary course of its financing
achvities Collateral 15 provided in the form of securities held within the available-for-scle and trading security portfolios
Al 318! December 2004, the fair value of available-for-sale and trading secunihies that had been pledged as collateral
under repurchase agreements was US$3,730 2 million and U$$74 0 million respectively (2003 US$3,015 5 mdlon and
US$9 0 million respectively)

13. OTHER UABILITIES
311204 311203
US$ millions US$ milhons
Denvative hnancial instruments 2005 257 8
Accrued interest 143 8 126 2
Deferred tems 660 707
Minority interests 405 849
Qutstanding secunity settlements 201 456
Other, including accounts payable and accrued expenses 547 593
525.6 644 5

Derivative hnancial instruments represent the negahive fair values of dervative financial instruments entered into for trading
purposes, or designated as fair value or cash flow hedges An analysis of the fair value of dervative financial instruments
ts set out in Note 25(d)

Minonity inferests represent minonity nferests in fund products managed by the Bank and 1ts subsichanes Fund products in
which the Bank holds, direcily or indirectly, more than half of the net asset value are accounted for on a consolidated basis
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14 TERM FINANCING

Maturity 311204 311203
USS millions US$ millions
Floating rate loans 2005 503.1 5010
Islamic murabaha term facilities 2005 703 703
Floahing rate loan 2006 550 300
tslamic muraboha term facdihes 2006 824 -
Floating rate note 2007 3250 3250
tslamic muraboha term focilities 2007 574 -
Floating rate loan 2008 61 -
Floating rate repo 2007-2009 5000 5000
Flooting rate loan 2009 500 -
Islamic murabaoha term facilihes 2009 290 -
Floating rate loan 2004 - 750
1,678 3 1,501 3

15. SUBORDINATED TERM LOANS
31 12.04 311203
US$ millions US$ rmillions
Floating rate loan due 2011 1000 000
Floating rate loan due 2011 500 500
150.0 1500

The subordinaled term loans represent unsecured obhgations of the Group and are subordmated in nght of payment to the
cloims of depositors and other creditors of the Group that are not also subordinated The subordinated loans have been
approved for inclusion in Tier 2 capital for copital adequacy purposes by the Bank's regulator, the Bahrain Monetary Agency

16 SHARE CAPITAL
The authorised share capital at 313! December 2004 compnsed 3 O billion shares of US$1 each (2003 3 0 billion shares of

US$1 each) The issued share capitc! ot 315" December 2004 comprised 1 O billion shares of US$1 each (2003 1 0 billien
shares of US$1 each) All issued shares are fully pard
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued

For the year ended 315! December 2004

17. RESERVES

18.

19

At 315 December 2002
Ansing in the year -
- Available-for-sale secunties
ne! foir value gains
- Cash Aow hedges
net fair value gamns
Transfers in the year -
- Transfers to net income
Net {losses) / gains recogrised
directly in equity
Transfers from retained earnings

At 31%t December 2003
Ansing in the year -
- Avallble-for-sale securities
net fair value gains
- Cash fow hedges
net fair value losses
Transfers in the year -
- Transfers to net income
Net {losses)/gains recognised

dlrecﬂy in equity
Transfers from refamned earnings

At 315! December 2004

Available-
for-sale
securthes
Compulsory Voluntary Cash flow revaluahon Total
reserve reserve  hedge reserve reserve
USs$ millions U5$ milhons USS millions USS milhons  US$ millions
9.6 371 nz {111 3} 371
- - 1714 171 4
- 08 - 08
A 08 B7)
- {33) 1718 1685
10 6 106 - - 212
L. Y a7 g4 60 5 2268
- 569 569
{01 [01)
e e (39 (76 ]
_ . (40) 493 453
150 150 - - 300
1252 62.7 44 109 8 3021

tn accordance with the Bank's arhicles of association, 10 per cent of the Bank's net profit for the yeor 15 required fo be transferred
1o each of the compulsory and voluntary reserves Translers to the non-disimbutable compulsory reserve are required unl such
time as this reserve represents 50 per cent of the 1ssued share capital of the Bank The voluntary reserve may be utilised ot the

discretion of the Board of Directors

DIVIDENDS

Dividends are not accounted for unt! they have been ratified at the general assembly meetng The dividend ronfied in respect of
2004 will be accounted for in sharehokders’ equity as an appropriation of retained earnings in the year ending 315! December 2005

OTHER INCOME

Dividend income
Profit on trading securiiies

Investment banking and management fees

Profit on available-for-sale securiies

Commissions on letters of credit and guaraniee

Proht on foreign exchange
Other fee and sundry income

2004 2003

USS millions US$ millions
328 237

23¢9 3926

2346 188

232 156

101 8¢9

65 112

34 25

123 5 120 3
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19 OTHER INCOME {conhnued)

Dividend income comprised dividends recerved of US$7 6 midlion and US$25 2 million from equities and equity funds i the
trading and available-for-sale secunty portfolies respechvely (2003 US$2 2 milhen and US$21 5 million respechvely] The
funding cost in respect of the equities and equity funds 15 included n interest expense 1n the consolidated statement of income

Investment banking and management fees comprised fees relating to the provision of invesiment management and financial
services, incduding asset ond fund manogement, underwriing achiviies ond services relating to structured financing,
privahisctions, IPO's, and mergers and acquisihons

20. SEGMENTAL INFORMATION

Segmental information 1s presented in respect of the Group’s business and geographical segments The primary reporting
format, business segments, 15 based on the products and services provided or the type of customer serviced and reflects the
manner 1n which hinanael information (s evaluated by management and the Board of Directors

a) Business segments
For inanciel reporting purposes, the Group 1s orgamsed info three mamn business segments -

* Corporate and mshtuhonal banking - the provision of wholesale commercial financing and ather credit facilities
for corporate and inshtuhional customers

* Treasury and financial markels - the provision of a broad range of treasury and capital market products and services to
corporate and hnancial insttution chents, money market, proprietary trading and nvestment activihes and the
management of the Group's balance sheet, indluding funding

* Investment management and banking - the proviston of nvestment manogement ond hnancial advisory services, indluding
asset management and services relating tostructured financing, privahsahons, IPO's and mergers and acquisihions

The results reported for the business segments are based on the Group's internal financia! reporhing systems The accounting
policies of the segments are the same as those applied in the preparation of the Group's consolidated financial statements
as set out in Note 2 Transachions between business segments are conducted on normal commercial terms and conditions
Transfer priaing between the business umits 15 based on the market cost of funds

Segment results, assets and habilihes camprise items direcily afinbutable 1o the busmess segments The corporate and other
category comprises lems which are not directly attributable to specific business segments, inchiding vestments of o
strategic nature and the investment of, and earnings on, the Group's net free caprtal Unallocated overheads and
excephonal charges are reporled separately
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued

For the year ended 315! December 2004

20 SEGMENTAL INFORMATION {continued}

The business segment analysis 15 as follows -

Corporate Treasury Investment Corporate Total
and institvhonal and financial management and other
banking markets and banking
Us$ millions US$ millions Us$$ millions US$ milhons _US$ milhons
2004
Net interest and other income 510 163 4 157 427 2728
Segment result 40 5 144 1 74 416 2336
Unallocated overhead {852
Taxahon credit on overseas achvities 18
Net income affer lax 150 2
Segment assets 5,357 5 13,500 2 - 229.1 19,086 8
Segment liabilihes - 16,3119 - 1,240 2 17,5521
Shareholders’ equity 15347
Total habilites and shareholders’ equity 19,086 8
2003
Net nterest and other 1ncome 40 4 138 3 12 8 40 9 2324
Segment result 311 1195 49 394 1949
Unallocated overhead {88 &)
Toxahon charge on overseas achvihes {02}
Net income alffer tax 106 1
Segment assets 38135 13,334 3 - 154 6 17,302 4
Segment habilines - 14,838 1 - 1,075 5 1592136
Shareholders’ equity 1,3888
Total hobilies and shareholders’ equity 17,302 4
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20 SEGMENTAL INFORMATION (continued)
b} Geographical segments

Although the Group’s three main business segments are managed on @ worldwide basis, they are considered to operate
in two geographical markets the GCC and the rest of the world

The geographical composthon of net interest and other income based on the location in which transachons are booked and
income 15 recorded was as follows -

2004 2003

USs$ millions Us$ millions

GCC countries 182 2 1745
Other countnes 20.6 57 9
2728 2324

The geographical analyses of deposits and nisk assets are set out in Notes 11 and 22 respectively

21. RISK MANAGEMENT

The principal risks associated with the Group's bustnesses are credit risk, market risk, hquidity risk and operational nsk The
Group has a comprehensive risk management framework in place for managing these nsks which 1s constanily evolving as the
business achvities change in respanse to credht, market, product and other developments The risk management framework 15
guided by a number of overnding principles including the forma! defiution of sk management governance, en evaluahon of
risk appetite expressed in terms of formal risk limits, risk oversight independent of business units, disciplined risk assessment
and measurement including Value-at-Risk (VaR) methodologies and portfolio stress testing, and risk diversifcation The Board
of Direclors set the Group's overall nisk parameters and risk tolerances, and the significant risk management policies A Board
Risk Policy Commuttee reviews and reports to the Board of Directors on the Group's nisk prohie and nsk taking achvibes A
Management Camemittee, chaired by the Group Chief Executive Officer, has the primary responsibility for sanchoming nisk
taking achvihes and risk management palicies within the overall risk parameters and tolerances defined by the Board of
Directors A Group Risk Committee, under the chairmanship of the Chief Operating Officer and compnising the Group's most
senior risk professionals, provides a forum for the review and approval of risk measurement methodologues, risk contral
processes and the approval of new products  The Group Risk Committee also reviews all risk pohiaies and limits that require
the formal approval cof the Management Committee The risk management control process 1s based on a defalled structure of
policies, procedures and limits, and comprehensive sk measurement and management information systems for the control,
monitoring and reporting of nisks Periodic reviews by internaf and external auditors and regulatory authonihes subject the nisk
management processes to additonal serutiny which help 1o further sirengthen the risk management environment
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21 RISK MANAGEMENT {continued)

The principal nsks assaciated with the Group's busmesses and the related risk management processes are commented on as

foliows -

Credit risk

Credit nsk 15 the risk that counterparties will be unable to meet therr obligations to the Group Credit nisk anses principally
from the Group’s lending and investment achivihies 1n addihon 1o other transoctions mvalving both on and off balance sheet
financial instruments Disaiplined processes are m place at both the business unit and corporate level that are intended to
ensure that nisks are accurately assessed and properly approved and monitored Formal credit hmiis are opplied ot the
individual transachen, counterparty, country and porifolio levels Overall exposures are also evaluated to ensure o brood
diversification of credit nsk The credit management process involves the monitoring of concentrahons by producl, indusiry,
single obligor, risk grade and geography, and the regular appraisal of counterparty credit quality through the analysis of
qualitative and quanttative informahion The Group also miigates its credit exposures on foreign exchange and dervahve
financial instruments through the use of master netting agreements and collateral arrangements

The geographical distrbution of risk assets 1s set out in Note 22 An andlysis of the credit nsk in respect of foreign exchange
and derivatve hinancial instruments 1 set out in Note 25 while the notional and nisk-weighted exposures for credit-related
fnanaial instruments are detailed in Note 26

Market risk

Market risk 15 the risk of loss due to odverse changes n inferest rates, foreign exchange rates, equity prices and market
conditions, such as iqudity The principel market nsks 1o which the Group is exposed are inferest rale risk, foreign exchange
nisk and equity price nsk associated with its trading, snvestment and asset and liabilty management achvihes The portfolic
effects of holding a diversihied range of instruments across a variety of businesses and geegraphic areas contnbute to o
reduction in the potential negative impoct on earnings from market nisk factors

-

Trading market nsk The Group's frading activiies principally comprise rading in debt and equity securihes, foreign
exchange and dervahve financial nstruments Derivative financiel instruments include futures, forwards, swaps and
ophons n the interest rate, foreign exchange and equity markets The Group manages and conlrols the market nsk within
s trading portfolios through hmat structures of both a VaR and non-VaR nalure Non-VaR based censiraints relate, infer
aha, to posions, volumes, concentrations, allowable losses and maturies VaR 15 a nisk measurement concept which uses
statishcal models to estimate, within @ given level of confidence, the moximum potential negative change n the market
value of a portfolic over a specified ime harizon resulting from an adverse movement in rotes and prices The Group
supplements danly VaR calculahons with portfolio stress testing which measures the impact of simulated abnormal changes
in market rates and pnces on the market volues of the portfolios It s recogmised that VaR 1s not a measure of the absolute
limut of market nsk and that losses in excess of the VaR amounts will, on occasion, arise The composttion of the debt and
equity Irading securihes 1s sel out in Note 5 An analysis of derivative inancial instruments, including the VoR of foreign
exchange and derivative trading contracts, 15 set out in Note 25
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2. RISK MANAGEMENT (conhnued)

Market risk (continued)
The VaR by rmsk class for the Group’s trading positions, os calculated n accardance with the basis set out in Note 28,
was as follows -

311204 2004 average 311203 2003 average

US5 millions USs$ millions US$ millions US$ millions

Interest rate nsk 55 48 44 44
Foreign exchange risk 11 1.3 25 15
Equity nisk kI 24 17 24
Total dwversified nisk 71 6.4 70 80

*  Non-trading market nsk Structural interest rate risk arises n the Group’s core balance sheet as a result of mismatches m
the repricing of inferest rate sensitve financial assets and liabslihes The associated interest rate risk 1s managed within
VaR himds and through the use of models to evaluate the sensitivity of earmings to movements in interest rates The
repricing profile and related interest rate sensitmvity of the Group's financial assets and Liabilies 1s set out 1n Note 24
The Group does not maintain matenal non trading foreign currency open postions In general, the Group’s policy 15 fo
match assets and habilities in the same currency or fo mihigate currency risk through the use of currency swaps Details
of sigmificant foreign currency net open posihons are set out in Mote 25(e)

The more significant market risk-related actmihes of a non-trading nature undertoken by the Group, the reloted nisks
associated with those achivities and the types of derivative finaneial instruments used to manage and mitigate such nisks
are summansed as follows -

Actrvity Risk Risk mihgant

Recerve hxed interest rate swaps

Reduced profitability due to a fall n

short term inferest rates

Managemeni of the return on
vanable rate assets funded by
shareholders’ funds

Fixed rate assets funded by floating
rate habilibes

Investment in foreign currency assels

Prohis generated in foresgn currencies

Sensitity to increases in short term
interest rates

Sensitmty to strengthening of US$
against other currencies

Sensiivity to strengthening of US$
against other currencies

Pay fixed interest rate swaps

Currency swaps

Forward foreign exchange contracts
and purchosed currency ophons
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued

For the year ended 315 December 2004

21. RISK MANAGEMENT {continuved)

Liquidity risk

Liquidity management palicies are designed to ensure that funds are available at all himes to meet the funding requirements
of the Group, even m adverse condihons In normal condihons the objective 1s o ensure that there are sufficient funds availoble
not only to meet current financial commitments but afso to facilitate business expansion These objecives are met through the
apphication of prudent liquidity conirols These controls provide security of access to funds without undue exposure o increased
casts from the liquidahion of assets or the aggressive hidding for deposits The Group's hquidity controls ensure that, over the
short term, the future profile of cash flows from matunng assets 1s adequately maiched to the maturity of habilihes Liquidity
controls also provide for the maintenance of a stock of hiquid and readily realisable assets and a diversified deposit base in
terms of both maturities and ronge of depositors

An analysis of available-for-sale securhies by reting classification 1s set out in Note 6 [a) The matunty profite of assets and
habilines 1s set out in Note 23

Operahonal nsk
Operationdl risk 15 the nsk of unexpected losses resulting from nadequate or failed infernal controls or procedures, systems
feulures, fraud, business interruphion, compliance breaches, human error, manogement failure or inadequate staffing

A framework and methodology has been developed to identify and control the various operational risks While operational
nisk cannot be entirely eliminated, it 1s managed and mitigated by ensuring that the appropriate nfrastructure, conlrols,
systems, procedures and trained and competent people are in place throughout the Group A strong infernal audit function
makes regular, independent appraisals of the control environment in all identified nisk areas Adequately tested contingency
arrangements are also in place o support operatons 1n the event of a range of possible disaster scenanos

22 GEQGRAPHICAL DISTRIBUTION OF RISK ASSETS

31.1204 311203

Placements & Securtties  Lloansand Credit-related Total Total
other liquid advances conhingent
assets tems

usS milhons  USS milhons  US$ millions  USS millions  US$ millions  US$ milltons

GCC 1,1741 1,161 9 37 1,888 6 8,146.3 65159
Cther Middle East & North Alnca 146 3 882 2743 795 588 3 4554
furope 1,6259 3,471.6 7622 201 6 6,0613 58639
North America 139.6 48181 1885 2595 54057 53039
Asia 3452 3907 1396 - B755 7385
Lahn Amenca - 1510 - - 1510 49 8

34311 10,081 5 5,286 3 2,429 2 21,2281 19,127 4

An onalysis of derivahive and foreign exchange instruments 1s set out 1n Note 25
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23 MATURITIES OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

The matunity profile of assets and habilies based on the remamning periods to contractual maturity dates was as follows -

Within 4 months Years Years Ower 5 years Total
3 months to 1 year 2and 3 4and 5 and other
Us$ millions Us$ millions US$ millions  USS miliens  US$ mdlions  US$ millions
At 315t December 2004
Cash and other iquid assets 1166 280 - . - 144 &
Placements 3,088.1 198 4 - - - 3,286 5
Trading securihes 1,612.4 - - - - 1,6124
Availlable-for-sale secunties 44 5 7456 1,109 8 1,227 4 53418 8,449 1
Loans and advances 1,613.7 9621 1,370 0 6067 7338 5,286 23
Fixed & other assets 202.8 26 - - 42.5 287 9
Total assets 6,678 1 1,976 7 2,479 8 1,834 1 6,118 1 19,086 8
Deposits 9,502 4 1,2209 912 - - 10,814 5
Secunities sold under
agreements fo repurchose 2,766 5 1,0523 - - - 38188
Securihes sold but not
yel purchased 564.9 - - - - 5649
Cther habilities 2555 443 216 237 1805 5256
Term financing 100 563 4 719.8 3851 1500 1,828 3
Shareholders’ equity - - - - 1,534 7 1,5347
Liabilihes &
shareholders’ equity 13,0993 28809 832.6 408 8 1,865 2 19,086 8
At 315 December 2003
Total assels 5,889 9 1,386 0 2,043 2 1,656 2 6,327 1 17,302 4
Liabilihes &
shareholders’ equity 11,7781 2,189 6 656 4 7538 1,924 5 17,302 4

The asse! and habuhily maturibes are based on contractual repayment arrangements and as such do not take account of the
effechve maturities of deposits as indicated by the Group's deposit refenhion records Counterparties each with deposits over
US$10 0 million at 315! December 2004 hod average deposits throughout 2004 amounting to US$9,508 3 midlion
{2003 US$8,849 6 million) Formal hquidity controls are nevertheless based on contractual asset and liobility maturihes
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued
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24. INTEREST RATE RISK

The repricing profile and effechive inlerest rates of the vanous asset and habity categonies were as follows -

Effechve
Within Manths Months Over Non-interest Total  inferest
3 months 40 b 71012 1 year bearing ttems Rates
U5$ millions US$ millions USS millions USS millions  USS milllons  US$ millions %
At 315t December 2004
Cash and other hquid assets 1166 280 . - - 144 6 158
Placements 2,8381 2124 610 1750 - 3,286.5 274
Trading securities 1,296 4 - . - 3160 1,6124 482
Available-for-sale securihes -
- Fixed rate - 2162 107 9 3575 - 6816 313
- Floating rate 6,293 2 826.8 620 - - 7,1820 327
- Equihes & equity funds - - - - 6055 605.5 -
Loans and advances 3,9940 1,3197 1619 129 {202 2) 52863 3.38
Fixed & cther assets - - - - 287 9 287 9 -
Tota! assels 14,538 3 26031 3928 5454 1,007 2 19,0846 8
Deposits 9,5750 1,009 3 2302 - - 10,8145 228
Securihes sold
under agreements
to repurchase 3,2842 2846 2500 - - 38188 210
Secunites sold but not
yet purchased 5649 - - - - 5649 203
Other habilities - - - - 5256 525.6 -
Term financing 1,793 0 353 - - - 1,828 3 255
Sharehalders’ equity - - - - 1,5347 1,5347 -
Labilihes &
shareholders’ equity 152171 1,329.2 480 2 - 2,060 3 19,086 8
Interest rate sensiivity gap {678 8} 1,273 9 (87 4) 545.4 {1,053 t)
Cumulative interest rate
sensithvity gap (678 8} 5951 507 7 1,053.1 - -
At 315 December 2003
Cumulahive interest rate
sensitivily gap 2852 1,6357 8191 1,250 5 : .
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24

25

INTEREST RATE RISK (conhnued)

The repricing profile 15 based on the remaining period 1o the next interest repricing dote The repricing profile of placements
incorporates the effect of interest rate swaps used to lock-in a return on the Group’s net free capital funds Denvative financial
instruments that have been used for asset and hability management purposes 1o hedge exposure to interest rate nisk are
incorporated in the repricing profiles of the related hedged assels and habiliies  The non-specific loan provision 15 deducted
from non-mterest bearing assels

The substonhal majority of assets and habilities repnce within one year Accordingly there 1s a limited exposure to inferest rate
risk The principal inferest rale nisk beyond one year as set out in the asset and lichility repricing prohle, represents investments
in fixed rate government securities with a maximum ongmnal matunty of two years At 315 December 2004 the modified
duration of these fixed rate government securihes was 1 2 Modified duration represents the approximate percentage change
in the portlolio value resuling from a 100 basis point change i yield More precisely in dollar terms, the price value of o
basis paint of the fixed rate goverament securities wos US$25,000

Based on the repriaing profile at 315! Decerber 2004, and assuming that the hnancial assets and labilihes were to remain
unhl maturity or seftlement with no action taken by the Group to alter the interest rate nisk exposure, an immediate and sustained
1 per eent increcse In anferest rates across all maturihes would result in a redudiion in net income before tax for the follawing
year and 1n the Goup’s equily by approxmately U5$6 1 million and US$7 6 million respechvely (2003 U5$7 4 millon and
U539 4 mallion respectively) The impact on the Goup’s equity represents the cumulative effect of the increase in interest rafes
over the entire duration of the mismatches in the repricing profile of the interest rate sensitive financial assets and habilies

The Value-at Risk by nsk class for the Group’s Irading postions 1s set out in Note 21 The market nisk relating to foreign
exchange and denivative trading instruments 1s set out 1n Note 25

DERIVATIVE AND FOREIGN EXCHANGE INSTRUMENTS

The Group utlises dervative and foreign exchange struments to meet the needs of its cuslomers, to generate trading revenues
and as par! of its asset and liability management [ALM) achvity to hedge its own exposure to market risk Derivative instruments
are contracts whose value 1s derived from one or more financial instruments or indices  They include futures, forwards, swaps
and ophions in the inferest rate, foreign exchange and equity markets Denvatives and fereign exchange are subject to the
same types of credit and market risk os other financial nstruments The Group has appropriate and comprehensive Board-
approved palicies and procedures for the control of exposure 1o both market and credit risk from s dervative and foreign
exchange achvities

In the case of denvative transachons, the notional principal typically does not change hands It 1s simply a quantity which 15
used to calculate payments While notional pnnctpal 15 a volume meosure used 1n the dervahve and foreign exchange
markets, it 15 neither @ measure of market nor credit nsk The Greup’s measure of credit exposure 1s the cost of replacing
contracts at current market rates should the counterparty default prior fo the sefilement date Credit sk amounts represent the
gross unrealised gans on non-margined tronsactions before taking account of any collateral held or cny master neting
agreements in place

% Page 63 @




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued

For the year ended 315 December 2004

25. DERIVATIVE AND FOREIGN EXCHANGE INSTRUMENTS (continued)

The Group partiipates in both exchange traded and over-the-counter [OTC) denvative markets Exchange traced instruments
are executed through a recognised exchange as standordised contracts and primanly comprise futures and ophons OTC
confracts are executed between two counterparties who negohate specifiic ogreement terms, including the underlying
instrument, notional amount, maturty and, where appropriate, exeraise price In general, the terms and condihions of these
transachons are tallored to the requirements of the Group's customers although conform to normol market practice Industry
standard documentation 1s used, most commonly n the form of a master agreement The existence of a master nething
agreement 15 intended to provide protection to the Group in the event of a counterparty default

The Group’s principal foreign exchonge transactions are forward foreign exchange contracts, currency swops and currency
ophons Forward foreign exchange contracts are agreements to buy or sell a specified quantity of foreign exchange an a
specific Future date of an ogreed rate A currency swap involves the exchange, or nohonal exchange, of equivalent amounts
of two currencies and @ commitment to exchange inferest periodically until the principal amounts are re-exchanged on o
specified fulure date Currency ophons provide the buyer with the nght, but not the abligation, either fo purchase or sell a fixed
ameunt of o currency of o specihed exchange rate on or before a specified future date As compensation for assuming the
option risk, the option seller {or writer) receives a premium at the slart of the option period

The Group's principal interest rate-related dervotive ransachons are interest rate swaps, forward rate agreements, futures and
ophons An interest rafe swap s an agreement between two parhes to exchange fixed rate and floating rate interest by means
of periodic payments based upon a notienal principal amount and the inferest rates defined in the contract Certain
agreements combime interest rate and foreign currency swap transactiens, which may or may not include the exchange of
principal amounts In a forward rate agreement, two parties agree a future setflement of the difference betwsen an agreed
rate and o future interest rale, applied to a notional principal amount for an agreed period The settlement, which generally
oceurs of the start of the contract period, 1s the discounted present value of the payment that would otherwise be made ot the
end of that period An inferest rate future 15 an exchange traded contract for the delivery of a standardised amount of a fixed
income security or ime deposit at @ future specified date  Interest rale options, including caps, floors and collars, provide the
buyer with the right, but not the obligation, either to purchase or sell an interest rate financial insirument of o specified price
or rate on or before a specthed future date

The Group's principal equily related dervative transactions are equity and stock index options An equily ophon provides the
buyer with the right, but not the obligaton, erther to purchase or sell a specified stock or index ot specified price or level on
or belore a specified Future date
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25 DERIVATIVE AND FOREIGN EXCHANGE INSTRUMENTS {continued)

a) Product analysis

The Ioble below summanises the aggregate notional and credit risk amounts of foresgn exchange and inferest rate-reloted
dervative contracts

Nohonal amounts Credit nsk
Trading Hedging Total amounts
US$ milhons U5$ millions Us3 millions US$ milons
At 315 December 2004
Foreign exchange confracts -

Unmatured spot, forward and fulures contracts 2,265 1 2,449 3 47144 390

Ophons purchased 245 - 245 01

Ophons writlen 191 - 191 -

2,308 7 2,449 3 4,758 0 391
Interest rate controcts -

Futures 1,614 3 - 1,6143 -

Interest rate swaps and swaptaons 1,229.8 58730 71028 227

Options, caps and floors purchased - 13.6 136 -

2,8441 5,886 6 87307 227
Equily confracls -

Contracts for differences Jo4 - 30.4 08
Total 5,183.2 8,335¢9 13,5191 626
At 315 December 2003
Total 15,651 9 88161 24,4680 94 2

Financial fulures are exchange traded and therefore not subject to credit risk There 1s no credit nsk in respect of options,
caps and floors written as they represent obligations of the Group

At 315! December 2004 the Value-at-Risk of the foreign exchange, interest rate and equity-related derivative trading
contracts analysed in the table above, as colculated in accordance with the basis set out in Note 28, was US$t 4 milkon,
US$0 2 million and nil respectively {2003 US$1 7 milhon, US$0 5 millon and nil respectively) Velue-at-Risk 1s @ measure
of market risk exposure and 15 accordingly separate and i addition to the credit risk exposure represented by the credit
risk amounts in the table above

b) Countel I
] Counterparty analysis 311204 311203

Credit nsk amounts Government Banks Other Total Total
USS millions Us$ millions US$ millions US$ millions US$ milbons

QOECD couniries - 46 3 08 47 1 796
GCC countnies 11 2.3 114 148 125
Other countnes - 0.7 - 07 21

11 493 122 626 94 2

Credit nisk 1s concentrated on major OECD-based banks
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25 DERIVATIVE AND FOREIGN EXCHANGE INSTRUMENTS {conhnued)

¢} Matunly anclysis

Nohonal amounts Year 1 Years Years Over Total
2&3 485 5 years

UsS millions U$$ millions US$ millions USS millions UsS millions
At 313t December 2004
Foreign exchange contracts 4,754 4 - 3.6 - 4,758 0
Interest rate contracts 3,8218 1,8253 1,3239 1,7597 8,7307
Equity contracts . - - - 304 304
Total 8,576 2 1,8253 1,327 5 1,790 1 13,5191
At 315! December 2003
Total 18,982 8 2,988 5 5611 19356 24,468 0

The Group's dervative and foreign exchange actviies are predominantly short-term in noture  Transachons with maturihes
over one year represent either fully offset rading transachons or transactions that are designated, ond qualify, as fair value
and cash flow hedges

d) Fair value analysis
311204 311203
Posihve Negahve Positive Negahve
farr value farr valuve faur valve fair value
US$ millions US$ millions US$ millions US$ millions
Dervatives held for trading -

Forward foreign exchange contracts 81 14 1) 68 {20 1)

Foreign exchange ophons 04 {0.4) - -

Interest rate futures 01 - - {0 4)

Interest rate swaps and swaphons 132 {12 5) 190 (24 Q)

Interest rate ophions, caps and foors - - 40 40)

Equities - controcts for differences 08 - - -

226 (27.0) 298 (48 5}
Derivatives held as fair value hedges -

Interest rate swaps 37 {172 6} 57 {209 3)
Derivatives held as cash flow hedges -

Interest rate swaps - 09 - -
Gross postive/(negahve) fair value 263 {200 5} 355 {257 8)
Effect of master nethng agreements - - - -
Net amount included in

other assets/{other Liabilites) 263 {200 5} 355 (257 8)

) Significant net open posiions

There were no sigmificant derative trading or foreign currency net open posthons of either 315" December 2004 or
at 315 December 2003
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26 CREDIT-RELATED FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Credit-related hnancial instruments include commitrents 1o extend credit, standby letters of credit and guarantees which are
designed to meet the financing requirements of customers The credit risk on these transactions 15 generally less than the
contractual amount The table below sets out the nohicnal principal amounts of outstanding credit-related contingent items and
the nsk-weighted exposures calculated in accordance with the capital adequacy guidelines of the Base! Committee on Banking

Supervision
31.12.04 311203
Nohonal Risk- Notiongl! Risk-
principal wetghted principal weighted
amount exposure amount exposure
Us$ millions US$ millions US$ millions US$ aulhions
Direct credit substitutes 117 1132 104 é 103 4
Tronsaction-related contingent items 6457 3173 5737 2770
Shert-term sell-lquidahng trade-related
contingent ilems 1754 235 2155 K1
Commitments, including undrawn loan
commitments and underwriting commitments
under note 1ssuance and revalving foaliies 1,466 4 623.8 1,200 5 5155
2,429 2 1,077.8 2,094 3 927 0
27. CONTINGENT UABIUTIES
Lihgahon

The Bank and its subsidiaries are engaged in lingation in various jurisdichons The lingalion involves claims by ond against
Group companies which have anisen in the ordinary course of business The directors of the Bank, after reviewing the claims
pending agains! Group companies and based on the advice of relevant prolessional legal adwisors, are sahishied that the cutcome
of these claims will not have @ matericl adverse effect on the hnancial position of the Group
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28. CAPITAL ADEQUACY

The risk asset rate calculated in accordance with the capital adequacy guidelines of the Basel Commuittee on Banking

Supervision was as follows -

Regulatory capial base
Tier | copital
Shareholders’ equity
Adjustment to exclude net farr value gains
Adjusted Tier | copital
Tier Il capital
Subordinated loans
Non-specihc loan provision subject to 1 25%
nisk-weighted exposure hmitahon

Farr value gain on marketable equity securiies

classified os avallable-for-scle
Total Tier Il capital
Total regulatory capital base

Risk-weighted exposure

Credit risk
Bolance sheet ifems
Cash and cther hiquid assets
Placements
Securies
Loans and advances
Fixed & other assets

Off-balance sheet items
Credit-related contingent items
Foreign exchange-related items
Interest rate-related items
Equity-related items

Credit nsk-weighted exposure
Market nisk

General market risk

Specihe market risk
Market nsk-weighted exposure
Total risk-weighted expasure

Risk asset raho [ {a)/{b) x 100 ]

311204 311203

UsSwmilbons US$millions

1,5347 1,388 8

e o 1832)
14330 1,3356

1500 1500

1913 1662

e T e _58
o313 . 3220

{a) 1,774 3 1,657 6
Nohonal Risk- Notional Risk-
principal weighted principal weighted
amount exposure amount exposure

USS millions ___ US$ mullions _ US$ millions  US$ milhons

144.6 230 2150 382
3,286.5 800 4 3,023 1 6567
10,081 5 7.2270 10,035 4 7,079 6
5286 3 45239 37596 3,346 5
__. 2879 1834 = 2693 1693
_1e0868 127577 173024 112903
2,429 2 1,077 8 2,094 3 9270
4,758.0 149 52234 120
8,730.7 89 19,240 6 86
.04 08
159483 1,1024 26,558 3 947 6
13,8601 12,237 9

3626 3321
1,083 0 7175

14456 1,056 6

(k) 15,305 7 13,294 5

116% 12 5%
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28 CAPITAL ADEQUACY (conhnued)

29

30

In accordance with the capital adequacy guidelines of the Bank's regulator, the Bohrain Manetary Agency (BMA), revaluation
gawns and losses ansing on the remeasurement to fair value of available-for-sale securies and dervative cash flow hedging
transactions are excluded from Tier | capital with the exception of losses ansing on the remecsurement to fair value of
marketable equity securities classified as available-for-sale In accordance with the BMA's guidelines, gains anising on the
remeasurement fo fair value of marketable equily secuniies classihied as available-for-sale are included 1n Tier Il capiial At
315! December 2004 there were no fair value gains or losses in relation to equity secunihes classified as available-for-sale
{2003 net far value gain of US$5 8 million)

The Group calculates the capital requirement for general market risk using a Value-at Risk model 1n accordance with the
provisions of the Amendment to the Capital Accord to Incorporate Market Risks 1ssued by the Basel Commuttee in January
1996 The use of the internal model approach for the calculation of the caprtal requirement for general market risk has been
approved by the Bank's regulator, the BMA The multiplication factor to be applied to the Value-ot Risk calculated by the
internal model has been set at the regulatory minimum of 3 0 {2003 3 0) by the BMA

Value-at-Risk 15 calculated based on a 99 per cent confidence level, a ten-day holding period and o twelve-month htstoncal
observation period of unweighted data from the DotaMetrics™ regulatory data set Correlations across broad risk categories
are excluded Prescribed additions in respect of specihic nisk are made 1o the general market risk The resultant measure of
market risk 15 multiphed by 12 5, the reciprocal of the 8 per ¢ent mimimum caprial ratio, to give market nsk-weighted exposure
on a basis consistent with credit rsk-weighted exposure

FIDUCIARY ACTIVITIES

The Group conducts investment management and other fiduciary activiies on behalf of chents Assets held in trust or n @
fiduciarycapactty are not assets of the Group and accordingly have not been included in the consolidated financicl statements
The aggregate amount of the funds concerned at 315t December 2004 was US$13,583 7 mullion (2003 US$11,348 0 million)

FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL iINSTRUMENTS

The table set out on the next page compares the estmated fair values of all on- and off-balance sheet inancial instruments
with therr respective book values With the excephion of trading securities, available-for-sale securities and dervative financial
instruments, the Group’s financial instruments are accounted for under the historical cost method By contrast the fair value
represents the amount at which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled, in o transaction between knowledgeable,
willing parties in an arm'’s length transachon Differences therefore can anise between book values under the historical cost
method and fair value estmates Underlying the defimiion of fair value is the presumphion that the Group s @ going concern
without any intention or requirement to curtall matenially the scale of its operation or to undertoke a transachion on adverse
terms Generally accepted methods of determining fair valve include reference to quoted market prices or to the pricing
prevaring for similar financial instruments and the use of esimahon techniques such as discounted cash low analysis
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued

For the year ended 315t December 2004

30 FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS {contnued)

Book value Fair value Excess

us$ millions __ US§ milhons ___USS millons
At 315t December 2004
Assels
Cash and other liquid assets 144.6 144 6 -
Placements with banks 3,286 5 3,286 5 -
Troding securiies 1,6124 1,6124 -
Available-for-sale securihes 8,469 1 8,469 1 -
loans and advances 5,286 3 52904 41
Fixed & other assets 2879 2879 -
Labilites
Deposits 10,814 5 10,8145 -
Securihes sold under agreements to repurchase 3Jees 38188 -
Securihes sold but not yet purchased 5649 5649 -
Other liabilihes 5256 5256 -
Term finanaing 1,828 3 1,828 3 -
Credit-related conhngent items -
Excess of net fair values over net book values 41
At 315! December 2003
Excess of net fanr values over net book values 235

Based on the valuahon methodologres outlined below, the net fair values of oll on- and off-balance sheet inanciol instruments
exceeded their net book values as at 313! December 2004 by US$4 1 million (2003 US$23 5 milhen)

a) Secunhes

The fair value of securites was based on quoled market prices with the excephon of nvestments in unquoted equity
investments, the fair values of which were based on their carrying amounts

kb

Loans and advances

The fair valve of floakng rate loans was principally estmated at book value less provisions for impairment The fair value
of troubled sovereign debt was based on market bid prices The fair value of impaired loans wos estimated at the
recoverable amount, measured as the present value of expected future cash flows discounted based on the inferest rate at
the incephion of the loan The fair value of fixed rate loans was esimated on a discounted cash flow basis uhlising discount
rates equal to prevailing market rofes of interest in the respective eurrencies for loans of similar residual matunity and credit
quality The repricing prohle of loans and advances is set out in Note 24 All but U5$12 9 million (2003 US$1C 3 mullien)
of loans and advances reprice within one year

¢} Term financing

The fair value of term financing was based on book value as the inaneng 1s on o foating rate basis and as the apphcable
margins approximate the current spreads that would apply for borrowings with similar matunibes The ferm hnancing
reprices at least semi-annually
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30 FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conhnued)

d) Other on-balance sheet items

The farr values of koreign exchange and derivahive financial instruments were based on market prices, discounted cash flow
models or ophon pnang models os appropnate The fair volues of all other on-balance sheet items approximated ther
respechive book values due to therr short term nature

—

e] Credit-related contingent items

There was no matenal fair value excess or shortfall in respect of credit related off-balance sheet hinancial instruments, which
nclude commitments to extend credit, standby letters of credit and guarantees, as the related future iIncome streams
reflected contractual fees and commissions actually charged at the balance sheet date for agreements of similar credit
standing and matunity Specific provisions have been made n respect of indwidual transachions, where a potential for loss
has been identihed Such provisions are included in provisions for impairment of loans and advances

31 EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per share 1s calculated by dividing the net profit atinbutoble to the shareholders by the weighted average
number of shares in 1ssue dunng the year

2004 2003

Net income after tax {US$ millions} 150.2 1061

Weighed average number of shares in issue [millions) 1,000.0 1,0000

Basic earnings per shore Usso 15 Us$o 11

32. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
The principal subsidiary companies were as follows -
Country of Ownershyp Interest

Incorporahon 3112.04 311203

% %

Gulf Infernational Bank (UK) Limited United Kingdom 100 100

GIB (UK) Capital Investments Lmited United Kingdom 100 100

SIB Financial Advisory Services Limited United Kingdom 100 100

GIBINVESTE C Bahrain 100 100
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATLEMENTS continued

For the year ended 315 December 2004

33 AVERAGE CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

The average consolidated balance sheet was as follows -

2004 2003
USs$ millions US$ millions
Assets
Cash ond other hquid assets 1883 2697
Plocements with banks 3,656 1 3,143 4
Trading securities 1,480 2 1,3124
Available-for-sale secunihes 8,360 9 8,404 8
Loans and advances 4,510 2 3,5550
Fixed & other assets 3370 4013
Totul assets 18,5327 17,086 6
Liabilities
Deposits from banks 4,980 5 590246
Depostts from customers 57749 4,499 0
Securihes sold under agreements to repurchase 3,5311 3,i315
Secunties sold but not yet purchased 4369 146 4
Other habilihes 5730 7633
Term financing 1,6354 1,243 9
Subordinated term loans 1500 1500
Total liabihhes 17,081 8 158367
Shareholders’ equity 1,450 9 1,249 9
Total hiobilthes & sharehalders’ equity 18,5327 17,086 6
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34 PARENT COMPANY

The condensed unconsolidated financial statements of Gulf International Bank B § C were as follows -

a} Condensed balance sheet

b

-

Assets

Cash and other liquid assets
Placements with banks
Trading secunhes
Availlable-for-sale secunties
Investment in GIB (UK} Limited
Loans and advances

Fixed & other assels

Total assets

Licbilities

Deposits from banks

Deposits from customers

Secunities sold under agreements to repurchase
Other habilihes

Term hnanaing

Subordinated term loans

Total llabilities

Shareholders” equity

Total habilihes & shareholders’ equity

The investment 1n GIB {UK) Limuted 1s accounted for based on the equity method of accounhing

Condensed income statement

Net inferest income

Provisions for securihes

Provisions for loen and advances
Net inferest ncome affer provisions
Other income

Net interest and other income
Operahng expenses

Profit rom operations

Result of subsidiary

Net income before tax

Toxahon {credit) / charge on overseas achvihes
Net income after tax

At311204 At311203
Us$ millions US$ millions
P59 87 3
2,078 2 22349
2928 1924
8,2994 8,276 8
3295 308 6
4,689 3 3,6221
2202 209 &
16,005 3 14,931 7
4,206 8 4,947 6
4,274 9 3,4958
3,742 9 2,997 8
nN77 450 4
1,678 3 1,501 3
1500 1500
14,470 6 13,5429
1,534 7 1,388 8
16,005 3 14,9317
Year ended Year ended
3112.04 311203
USS millions US$ millons
144 8 1261
102 183
192 12 4
1154 @54
87 3 19
2027 187 3
716 708
1311 116 5
173 {10 2)
148 4 1063
{1 8) 072
1502 106 1
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The Board of Directors and managemenl are
committed to high standards of corporate
governance Following the adoption of the Bank’s
new strategy n 2001, the orgamsation was
restructured to provide the appropnate governance
framework, including clearly defined reporting lines
for the business and support units

There 15 an effective and appropnately
constituted Board of Directors which recerves from
management, such information as 1s required to
properly fulfil its duties

The Beard comprises mne non-executive
directors, including the Chairman and Vice
Chairman, who together bring a wide range of skills
and experience to the Board

The Board 15 responsible for the strategic
direction of the Bank, mamntammng an appropriate
orgamisation structure, approving major policies,
monutoring business performance, operations and the
ntegnty of mternal controls, nurtuning proper and
ethical behaviour, providing appropniate oversight
and conducting corporate governance in a transparent
manner There 15 a clear division of roles and
responsibilines between the Board of Directors and

the Chuef Executive Officer

MEETINGS OF T'HE BOARD
As prescribed 1n the Bank’s Articles of Association,
the Board plans at least four meetngs per year, with
further meetings to occur at the discretion of the
Board The Board 15 generally responsible for its
agenda which, when applicable, 15 prepared
consultation with management

The Board 1s assisted by the following

committees

CORTORATE GOVERN:

CE REPORT

EXECUTIVE COMMITIEE

The Executive Committee acts for the Board 1n 1ts
absence The Commuttee handles matiers requiring,
Board review that anse between full board meetings

It will relieve the Board of detailed reviews of
imformation and operational activities, so that it can
concentrate on activities reserved for the full board
n accordance the Bank’s Articles of Association and

applicable laws

AUDIT COMMITTEE
The Audit Committee assists the Board in fulfulling
11s statutery and fiduciary responsibihiies with
respect to internal controls, accounting policies,
auditing and financial reporting pracuces The
Commutiee assists the Board in its oversight of (1) the
mtegrity and reporting of the Bank’s quarterly and
annual financial statements, (1) comphance with
legal and regulatory requirements, and (in} the
independence and performance of the Bank’s internal
and eaternal auditors

In accordance with the Bank’s Articles of
Association, the General Assembly 15 directly
responsible for the appointment and compensation of
the exaternal auditors who audit the Bank's financial
statements

The funcuon of the Audit Commuttee 1s
oversight Although the Board of Directors 1s
responsible for the mtegnty of the Bank’s financtal
statements, the management 1s responsible for
mamtaimng appropnate accounting and financral
reporting principles as well as internal controls and
procedures designed to assure compliance with
accounting standards and applicable laws and

regulations The ndependent wnternal and external
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auditors are responsible for planning and
performmg proper audits on the adequacy of the
Bank’s internal controls

The Audit Commitice 15 responsible for
maintaiming an avenue of communication with the
external auditors, management, the internal auditor

and the Board of Directors

RISK POLICY COMMITTEE

The primary objective of the rnisk management

strategy adopted by the Board of Directors 15 to

preserve the Bank’s capital base, to optimise the
allocation of capitat and to foster a proactive risk
culture bank-wide The Board of Duirectors 1s
responstble for setting the Bank’s overail nisk
appetite, parameters and himuts within which it
conducts 1ts business activities

The Board Risk Policy Committee assists
the Board mn fulfilling its oversight responsimlities

n respect of

» The sk profile of the Bank,

+ The nisks inherent 1n the businesses of the Bank,
management and the control processes with
respect to such nisks,

*  Determmation of overall pohcy limis using a set
of parameters and rules based on the Bank’s
portfolio, business line economics, overall capital
adequacy requirements and target risk rating, and

= The mtegnty of the Bank’s systems of
operational  controls regarding legal and

regulatory compliance

COMPENSATION COMMITTEE
The Compensation Comnuitee provides assistance (o

the Beard in fulfillmg s oversight responsibdines 1n

matters relang to executive compensation and
administration of the Bank’s compensation and benefits
plans The Compensation Commttee 1s responsible for
periodic reviews of the policy on management
succession, includimg the critena for the Chief Executive
Officer and other executive management posittons

All directors are appointed or re-clected
every three years according to the Bank’s Articles of

Assoclation

THE MANAGEMEN
The management, which 1s responsible for the
mplementation of Board approved strategy,
polictes, effective controls and day-to-day
management of the Bank, 1s headed by the Chief
Executive Officer, who 15 assisted by five managing
directors responsible for risk management and
operations, treasury, banking, merchant banking,
and financiat markets and asset management The
following management commitices have been
cstablished to assist the Chief Executive Officer 1
the management of the Bank — Management, Group
Risk, Bank ALCO (Assets and Liabiliues
Management) and Human Resources

The committees of the Board denve ther
authonties and powers from the Board of Directors
and management committees from the Chief
Execunive Officer, based on the authonties and limits
delegated by the Board of Directors

In accordance with the Bank’s Articles of
Association, the Bank holds, annually, a properly
constituted General Assembly and 1its Board of
Directors, who are elected by the shareholders,
encourage and regularly commumcate with the

Bank’s shareholders and other stakeholders
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ORGANI

SATION CIART ]

Executive Committee
Risk Policy Committee

Board of Directors

Compensation Commuiltee
Audit Commitiee

mmmmemesere—scasnn Intemal Audit

Dr Khaled M Al-Fayez sl T Human Resources

Chief Executive Officer

Matthew C Snyder

t Corporate Development
Compliance

Management Commttee

Managing Director
Banking

Abbas Ameen
Managing Director
Merchant Banking

— Commercial Banking

b— Investment Banking

l— Project & Structured MNnance

l— [slamic Banking

— Syndications

'— Branches & Representative Offices

Bachir Barnr

Gulf International Bank (UK) Ltd

Mohab N. Mufts
Managing Director
Financral Markets & Asset Management

Fiduciary
Government Matkets
Credit Markets
Equity Markets

l:: Securties
Foreign Exchange & Money Markets

—— Managing Director
Treasury

Mohannad Farouky

Treasury Sales
Intermnational Financiat Institutions

Risk Policy & Portfolio Structure
Credit Risk

Chief Operating Officer

Market Risk

Operational Risk

Fimancial Control

Operations & Admimisiratton

Informauon & Communication Technology
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BOARD OF DIRLCTORS

Sheikh Ebraham Bin Khalifa Al Rhalfa

Charrman Bahraim Citizen

LB, Beirut Arab University Lebanon Sheikh Ebrahim was
appointed as Chairrman of the Board of Directors in 2001
Stnce 1993 he has been Undersecretary at the Ministry of
Finance Kingdom of Bahrain Previously he served as Deputy
Governor of the Bahramm Moenetary Agency from 1983-1993,
Assistant to the Governor of the BMA from 1981-1983 and
Head of Banking Control Department between 1975-1981
Other current positions include Chairman and Managing
Director of Gulf Alumimum Roling Mill Company
(GARMCO} Chairman of Bahrain Development Bank and
Bahrain Institute of Technology and Member of the Board of
Alumumum Bazhrain (ALBA) and Faysal Islaruc Bank of
Egypt

Mr Abdut Aziz M Al-Abdulkader ®

Vice Chmrman Saudi Arabian Citizen

BA in Business Admmustration  the Umversity of Washington
USA Mr Al-Abdulkader was appointed to the Board 1n 2001
He 15 Chairman of the Risk Policy Committee He 1s ithe
founder and owner ot the AMA Group of Compamies 1n Saudi
Arabia. Other current directorships anclude Middle East Capatal
Group Unmted Gulf Indusines Company and National
Instalment Company Ltd He 1s a former Chairman of the Board
of Directors of Bank Al-Jazira

Mr Bader A Al-Rushmd Al-Bader &

Board Member, Kuwaiti Cinzen

BA 1n Commerce Alexandnia University, Egypi  Mr Al-Bader
was appointed to the Board in 1978 He served as Charman and
Managing Director of Kuwait Investment Company from
1992-2000 He was Deputy Managing Director of Kuwait
Investment Authority from 1984-1992 He worked in vanous
pasitons at the Mimstry of Finance & O1 Kuwxne from 1969
to 1984 Mr Al-Bader has servcd as Chairman and Director of
a large number of Middle Eastern financal institutions

Dr Hamad Bin Sulatman Al-Baza1 © &

Board Member Saudi Arabian Citizen

BA in Administrative Sciences, King Saud University Saudi
Arabla MS and PhD 1n Economics Colorado State
University USA Dr Al-Baza was appointed 1o the Board 1n
1999 He is Deputy Manuster of Finance for Econonuc Affaurs at
the Mumstry of Finance Kingdom of Szudi Arabia He 1s a
Member of the Preparatory Commuttee of the Supreme
Petroleum Council and a Board Member of the Human
Resources Development Fund the Southern Region Cement
Company and the Higher Education Fund

Mr Saud Bin Nassir Al-Shukaly €

Board Member, Omam Citizen

BS 1n Business Admimstrauon Umversity of South Carolina
and MA 1 Development Mznagement, Amertcan University
Washington DC Mr Al-Shukaily was apponted to the Board
i 1999 He 1s currently the Secretary General for Taxation at
the Ministry of Finance, Sultanate of Oman Earher he senved
as Director General of Revenue and Investment at the Mimstry
of Tinance (1996-2004), Director of the Minister s Office at the
Muustry of Civil Services (1994-1996) and at the Ministry of
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Nauonal Economy (1996-1999)  He 1s alse 2 Member of the
Board of Directors of Oman Flour Mills Oman Cement
Company and Petroleum Development Of Oman

I>¢ Khabd Bin Abdulla Al-Sweilem © ©

Board Member, Saud) Arabian Citizen

BS 1n Industrial Engineering  Umverstty of Arizona, MA m
Economics Boston Umversity, PhD 1n Economics,
University of Colorado-Boulder, 1n addition to post-doctoral
fellowstup m Eeconomecs at Harvard University, USA Dr Al-
Swelem was appomted 1o the Board in 2004 He 135 currently
the Dwrector General [nvestment Department at the Saudh
Arabian Monetary Agency (SAMA) He served as Deputy
Darector of Investment at SAMA from 2000-2004 Previous
positions &t SAMA included Assistant Director General of
Investment (1998-2000) Director Invesiment Management
(1994-1998) and Economic Advisor (1991-1994)

Mr Khald Bin Abdulla AkSuwaidh @

Board Member Qatan Ciizen

BA m Accounting from Regence College mn the United
Kingdom He jowned the Board 1n 2004 He has been the Office
Durector at the Deputy Secretary Generzls Office of the
Supreme Council for Economic Affairs and Invesiment 1n
Qatar since 2003 He served earler as Director of Finance at
the Awrport Public Corporation (1997-2003)

Mr Nasser Bin hhamus Al-Suwaidi © @

Board Member, UAE Citizen

BS in Business and Banking Artzona Umversity USA, 1m
addition to specialised courses 1 macre economics at the
Internatonal Monetary Fund He jomned GIB's Board in 2004
Currently he 18 Director of the Minister s Office at the Ministry
of Finance and Industry, UAE Previous positions at the
Ministry included  Director of Industnial Development
Dhrector of Investments (2003-20043 Mumister s Office
Manager (2000-2003) Head of Development Institutions-
Investment Department (1999-2000) Mr Al-Suwatdi 15 a
Board member at OPEC Fund for Development and a member
of the UAE Anu-Dumping Compmittee and the Central
Commuttee for Statistics Coordination

Mr Mark Stephen Gornin 88O

Board Member, US Citizen

BS Georgetown University and MBA, Amencan Unversity
Washington, DC Mr Garvin was appointed to the Board n
2002 He 1s Chuef Operaung Officer of the Europe Middle East
Afnca region and Senior Country Officer for JPMorgan tn the
United Kingdom He assumed his current position 1 2001
following the merger between JPMorgan and Chase
Mr Ganvin 1s Chaurman or a Director of a number of JPMorgan
entiies He 1s also a Director of CLS Bank Services
International and British Amertcan Business Inc

@ Lxecutive Comnuttee Member

® Risk Pohcy Commutiee Member
© Audit Commuttee Member

© Compensat:on Commuttee Member




BIOGRAPHIES OF THE BOARD AND SENITOR MANAGEMENT continued

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Dr Khaled M Al-Fayez

Chief Executive Officer

Saudi Arabian Citizen

BA in Economics, Whitman College, Washington State, USA,
MA n International Relatons, MA in Law & Diplomacy and
Ph D in Economics & International Relations, Fletcher School
of Law & Diplomacy, Tufts University, USA Dr Al-Fayez was
Group Chief Executive Officer of Gulf Investment Corporation
from 1983 10 2001 Dr Al-Fayez served as GIB’s first General
Manager from 1976 to 1983 He was previously an Economic
Advisor at the Saudi Arabian Minustry of Finance and National
Economy and an Ceonomist and Sermor Credit Officer al the
Saud Industmal Development Fund Dr Al-Fayez 1s Chaman
of the Board of Gulf Internauonal Bank (UK) Ltd Member of
the Advisory Council and Member of the Privatisation
Commuttee of the Supreme Leconomic Council, Saudi Arabia,
Member of the Adwvisory Board of The Middle East Institute,
Washington, USA and Member of the Board of the Institute of
International Finance Inc , Washington, USA

Mohannad Farouky

Chief Operating Officer

UK Citizen

BA in Economics, the Amencan Umversity, Cairo and MBA 1
Finance, the Unversity of Miami, USA Pnor to his recent
appoiniment as COO, Mr Farouky served as Managing
EnrectorRisk Manggement from 2003-2004 From 2000 vnul
2002, he was assigned to Gulf Intemational Bank (UK ) Ltd as
Depaty Managing Director From 1994 to 2000, he was
Global Head of the Banhing Group Mr Farouky joined GIB
1n London 1n 1986 as Head of the Europe and Afiica Area He
1s a member of the Board of Directors of Gulf International
Bank (UK) Ltd Before jouming GIB, he worked at Citibank
N A in the Middle East in a variety of credit and marketing
positions, and at Chase Investment Bank Ltd n London as a
Managing Director

Matthew C Snyder

Managing Director - Banking

US Ciizen

BA 1n Pohtical Science, CW Post College, USA and MA
Internatigonal Poliics, Long Island University USA

Mr  Soyder first joined GIB's principal subsidiary Gulf
Intemational Bank {UK) Ltd (then Saud: International Bank) in
1993 T'rom 1982 to 1993 he was President and Chief Executive
Officer of Al International, a US-based diversified, prnvate
industrial company He previously worked for eleven years i
the New York offices of Schroders, a London-based merchant
bank He 15 Managing Director of Gull International Bank
(UK) Ld

Bachir Barbir

Managing Director - Treasury

Lebanese and Canadan Cinzen

Degree 1n Banking Studies and Business Admimstration from
Samnt Joseph Umversity, Bewrut, Lebanon Mr Barbir was
appointed Assistant General Manager, Assets and Liabilitics
Management m 1997 In 1988 he was promoled to Executive
Vice Prestdent and Head of the Assets and Liablities Group
He was previously the Bahram Treasurer Mr Barbir joined
GIB in 1981 Before joimng GIB he worked for Chase
Manhattan Bank 1n both Bahram and Lebanon and Credit
Hypothecatre 1n Lebanon

Abbas Ameen

Managing Director - Merchant Banking

Bahraim Citizen

Mr Ameen has 22 years of banking experience at GIB,
working within the credit and banhing groups He 15
responsible for GIB’s relanonship efforts within the GCC,
including mimstries of finance, govemment agencigs,
corporations, financial insutunons and investment compantes
He also supervises other aclivities, including project and
structured finance syndications and [slamic banking, as well
as the activities of GIB’s branches in Ruy adh, Jeddah, London
and New York and the two representative offices in Abu Dhalbn
and Bewrut Mr Ameen is a member of GIB's Management
Commitiee, the Credit Committee and the Assets and
Leabilittes Committee

Mr Mohab Naj Mufh

Managing Director - Financial Marhets and Asset Management
Saudi Arabian Cittzen

BSc in Computer Science, University of East Anghia, UK
Mr Muft11is Deputy Managing Director and Executive Board
Member of Gulf Intemational Bank (UK) Ltd He has been
responsible for GIB’s Financial Markets business since 1999
He rejoined Saudi Intemattonal Bank, which was subsequently
renaned Gulf Intermational Bank (UK} Ltd , i 1996 Pror to
that Mr Mufti worked with the Nahional Commercial Bank 1n
Sandi Arabia, where he was the Head of Trading Between 1987
and 1993 he occupied vanous semtor trading and investment
roles within Saudi Intemational Bank w London Mr Mufii 15
a Board Member of the Arab Bankers Association, UK
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l CORPORATE DIRFCTORY

General Management

Dr Khaled M Al-Fayez

Chief Executive Officer

Mohannad Farouky

Chief Operating Officer

Matthew Snyder

Managing Dhrector - Banking

Bachir Barinr

Managing Director - Treasury

Abbas Ameert

Managing Director - Merchant Banking
Mohab N Muftl

Managing Director - Financial Markets &
Asset Management

Merchant Banking

GCC Commercial Banhing
Al Rahim

Head of Bahrin Kuwant and
Saudi Arabia

Srinivas Vemparala

Head of Oman, Qatar & UAE

Project & Structured Finance

M Chandrasekaran

Head of Project & Structured Finance
Munawar thsan

Syndications

Suhasl Masood

Islamic Banking

Al Al-Qaseer

Asset Trading & Loan Agency

Internanonal Banking

Peter Szalay

Head of International Banking
Asghar Al Baba

Near & Far East

Invesement Banhing

Salman Al-Deghather

Head of Investment Banking
Ian Brameld

Project Finance Advisory
Bashar Kayyah

Senior Manager

Abdul Qaiyum

Corporate Finance, Abu Dhabn

Financial Markets & Asset
Management

Fuduciary
David Waite
Head of Fiduciary

Government Markets

Uday Patnmk

Head of Government Markets
Charles Thomson

Portfolio Management
Anthony Chisnall

Emerging Markets

John Benfield

G 10 Marhets

Credizt Markets

Alex Veroude

Head of Credit Markets

Ult Gerhard

Corporate Debt - Investment Grade
Azhar Hussain

Corporate Debt - High Yield
Andrew Burgess

Asset Backed Secunties

Equin Markets

John Cavaliere

Head of Equity Marhets
Simon Enghsh
Directional Strategies
Paul Harrison

Market Neutral Strategies

Private Equity
Gregga Boxter
Head of Private Equiey

Treasury

Adel Al-Dossen

Head of Foreign Exchange &
Money Marhets, Bahrain

Steven Moulder

Head of London & New York Treasury
Adnan Al-Rifae

Riyadh Treasury

Mahmood Fikree

Investment Secunties

Salman Al-Zayant

Head of Treasury Sales

Austin Sequeira

Treasury Administration
Shahnar Khoshabs

International Financial Institutions

Risk Management

Masood Lafar

Chuef Credit Officer

Stephen Wilhams

Group Financial Controller
Fouad J Masrieh

Rash Policy & Portfolio Structure
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Peter Robinson

Acting Chief Fnancial Officer -
GIBUK

Jameel Al-Sarafi

Information Securtty - Bahrain
Shane Panyyvam

Operational Risk - Bahrain

Support Functicns

Abdulla Janaht

Head of Qperations &
Informanon Technology

Al Buhejp

Operations - Bahrain

Al Ashoor

Admimstration - Behrain

P K Nambar

Informaion Technology - Bahran
Gordon Brooher

Operations & Admanistration - GIBUK
Rashed Abdul-Rahim
Operations & Admimstration -
Riyadh Branch

Human Resources

Hassan Abdul-Gham

Head of Human Resources

Jamal Hyris

Human Resources - Bahraan
Michael Osborne

Human Resources Policy &
Planning - Bahrain

Emad Nabulsi

Human Resources - Riyadh Branch

Audit, Legal & Compliance

Hassan Al-Mutla

Group Chief Auditor

Julian Anthony

Audrt - London

Domimic Bacon

Legal & Compliance - London

Sally Wells

Company Secretary - GIB UK
Hassan Al-Mulla

Acting Head of Comphance - Bahrain

Board Secretanat
Faiz Al Barwam
Secretary to the Board

Carporate Communications
Abdulla Naneesh




CORPORATE DIRECTORY continued

Head Office

Address

PO Box 1017

Al-Dowah Buitdimg

3 Palace Avenue

Manama, Kingdom of Bahrain
Telephone

General (+973) 17 534000

FX & Money Markets

(+973) 17 534300, 17 530030
Treasury Sales (+973) 17 522626
Fixed Income/Denvatives
(+973) 17 522521, 17 533188
Investments (+973) 17 522575
Telex

General 8802 DOWALI BN
Telefax

General (+973) 17 522633
Treasury (+973) 17 522530
Investments (+973) 17 522629
SWIFT GULFBHEM
Reuter Direct Dial

I orex Unit & Options GIBB
International Money Marhet Unit/
Middle East Curvency GIBF
E-Mail

fo@gibbah com

Internet

http /fwww gibonline com

Principal Subsidiary

Gulf International Bank (Uk)
Limtted

Matthew C Snyder
Managing Director &
Chief Executive Officer
Mohab N Muft

Deputy Managing Director
Address

One Knightsbridge
London SW1X 7XS
Umted Kingdom
Telephone

(+44) 20 7259 3456
Telefax

(+44) 20 7259 6060

Telex 8812261/2

Cables SAUDIBANK
LONDON SW1

SWIFT SINTGB2L

Branches

London Branch

Nicholas Hurst

Acting Branch Manager
Address

One Knmighisbndge

London SW1X 7XS

United Kingdom

Telephone

General (+ 44) 20 7393 0410
Treasury (+44) 20 7393 0035
Telefax

General (+44) 20 7393 0458
Treasury (+44)20 7393 0430
Banking (+44) 20 7393 0454
SWIFT GULFGBIL
E-Mait

marketing@mbank co uk

New York Branch

Issa N Bacom

Branch Manager

Address

330 Madison Avenue

New York, NY 10017
United States of Amenca
Telephone

General (-+1) 212 922 2300
Telefax

General (+1)212 922 2309
SWIFT GULFUS33
E-Mail

1hacom(@igibny com

Cayman Islands Branch
C/o New Yorh Branch

Riyadh Branch

Rashid Abdul-Ralim

Acting Branch Manager
Address

Abraj Atta’awuneya

King Fahad Road

PC Box 93413

Riyadh 11673

Kingdom of Saud: Arabia
Telephone

General {(+9661) 218 0888
Treasury (+9661)218 1188
Invesiments (+9661) 218 0355
Telefax

General (+9661) 218 0088
Corporate Banking

(+9661) 218 1182 Ext 6
Treasury (+9661) 2181155
Investments {(+9661) 218 0055
SWIFT GULFSARE
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Jeddah Branch

Haroen Alireza

Branch Manager

Bin Homran Center
Office No 506B

HRH Prince Mohammed Bin
Abdulaziz St , Jeddah
Kingdom of Saud1 Arabia
Tel 966 2 660 7770

Fax 966 2 660 6040
E-Mail

h alirezaf@gibryd com
SWIFT GULFSARI

Representative Offices

Lebanon Representative Office
Hassan A Yaseen
Chief Representative
Address

Gefinor Centre, Block B
Office Number 1401

PO Box 113/6973
Beirut

Lebanon

Telephone

(+961) 1 739 503
(+961) 1 739 507
(+961) 1 739 509
Telefax

(+961) 1 739 503
E-Maml

gibbey@inco com Ib

Umited Arab Emirates
Representative Office
Sninivas Vemparala

Acting Chief Representative
Address

Arab Monetary Fund Building
Comiche Road

PO Box 27051

Abu Dhabi

United Arab Emurates
Telephone

(+971) 2 621 4747

Telefax

(+971) 2 631 1966







